EFFECTS OF PROSTAGLANDIN D₂ AND THE DP₁ AND DP₂ RECEPTORS IN EOSINOPHIL RECRUITMENT INTO THE BROWN NORWAY RAT

LUNGS

Wagdi Almishri

Department of Pathology McGill University Montreal, Canada

December 2004

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of Master of Science

© Wagdi Walmishri 2004



Library and Archives Canada

Published Heritage Branch

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque et Archives Canada

Direction du Patrimoine de l'édition

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

> Your file Votre référence ISBN: 0-494-12387-7 Our file Notre référence ISBN: 0-494-12387-7

NOTICE:

The author has granted a nonexclusive license allowing Library and Archives Canada to reproduce, publish, archive, preserve, conserve, communicate to the public by telecommunication or on the Internet, loan, distribute and sell theses worldwide, for commercial or noncommercial purposes, in microform, paper, electronic and/or any other formats.

The author retains copyright ownership and moral rights in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission.

AVIS:

L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque et Archives Canada de reproduire, publier, archiver, sauvegarder, conserver, transmettre au public par télécommunication ou par l'Internet, prêter, distribuer et vendre des thèses partout dans le monde, à des fins commerciales ou autres, sur support microforme, papier, électronique et/ou autres formats.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur et des droits moraux qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

In compliance with the Canadian Privacy Act some supporting forms may have been removed from this thesis.

While these forms may be included in the document page count, their removal does not represent any loss of content from the thesis.



Conformément à la loi canadienne sur la protection de la vie privée, quelques formulaires secondaires ont été enlevés de cette thèse.

Bien que ces formulaires aient inclus dans la pagination, il n'y aura aucun contenu manquant.

ABSTRACT

The accumulation of eosinophils at sites of inflammation is one of the hallmarks of asthma. The aim of the present study was to investigate the involvement of PGD₂ and the DP_1 and DP_2 receptors in eosinophil recruitment in vivo. In this project, a group of Brown Norway rats were administered intratracheally with PGD₂, which activates both DP1 and DP2 receptors, as well as selective agonists of DP1 (BW245C) and DP2 (15Rmethyl-PGD₂ and 13,14-dihydro-15-oxo-PGD₂) receptors. In addition, we have also tested the effect of 15-deoxy- $\Delta^{12,14}$ -PGJ₂ which known to activate PPAR γ and NF- κ B, and DP_2 receptors. Negative control animals received saline alone while positive control animals received 5-oxo-ETE. In this work, we have shown for the first time that PGD₂ and selective DP2 receptor agonists induce pulmonary eosinophilia in vivo in the following order of potency; (15R-methyl-PGD₂ > PGD₂ \approx 15-deoxy- $\Delta^{12,14}$ -PGJ₂ > dhk-PGD₂). This effect was time dependent with the maximal response being observed after 24 h. Interestingly; this response was somehow diminished when higher dose was tested $(10\mu g)$. This effect is most likely to be mediated solely through the DP₂ receptor since this effect was not shared by the DP₁ specific agonist BW245C. These results are consistent with an important role for PGD₂ and the DP₂ receptor/CRTH₂ in allergic diseases such as asthma and suggest that this receptor may be an important therapeutic target for these conditions.

RESUME

L'accumulation d'éosinophiles aux sites d'inflammation est l'une des manifestations principales de l'asthme. L'objectif de la présente étude est d'étudier la participation de PGD_2 et des récepteurs DP_1 et DP_2 dans l'infiltration des éosinophiles in vivo. Dans ce projet, nous avons administré à des rats « Brown Norway », par voie intratrachéale, du PGD_2 , qui est à la fois activateur des récepteurs DP_1 et DP_2 , ainsi que les agonistes sélectifs du récepteur DP₁ (BW245C) et du récepteur DP₂ (15R-methyl-PGD₂ et 13,14dihydro-15-oxo-PGD₂). De plus, nous avons également examiné l'effet du 15-deoxy- $\Delta^{12,14}$ -PGJ₂ (15d-PGJ₂) qui est connu pour activiver PPAR_Y NF- κ B et le récepteur DP₂. Les animaux témoins négatifs ont reçu du salin, tandis que les témoins positifs ont reçu du 5-oxo-ETE. Dans ce travail, nous avons prouvé pour la première fois que le PGD_2 ainsi que les agonistes sélectifs du récepteur DP₂ induisent une hyperéosinophilies pulmonaire *in vivo* dans l'ordre suivant d'efficacité ;(15R-methyl-PGD₂ > PGD₂ \approx 15deoxy- $\Delta^{12,14}$ -PGJ₂ > dhk-PGD₂). Cet effet est dépendant du temps, avec une réponse maximale observée après 24 h. De plus, cette réponse est diminuée lorsqu'une dose plus élevée a été testée (10µg). Cet effet est très probablement médié uniquement via le récepteur DP₂ puisque cet effet n'est pas observé avec l'agoniste spécifique de DP₁, le BW245C. Ces résultats suggèrent un rôle important pour PGD₂ et le récepteur DP₂/CRTH₂ dans les maladies allergiques telles que l'asthme et suggèrent que ce récepteur puisse être une cible thérapeutique importante pour ces conditions.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

At the end of a long project, it is a pleasure to acknowledge those whose contributions were so important to its completion. I owe sincere thanks and ultimate respect for my main supervisor, Dr. Powell. His profound vision and insight, expansive knowledge and experience, incredible motivation and endless encouragement always guided me to go further in research. He is the best advisor and teacher I could have wished for. Thank you sincerely for being so patient with me through all the times I have been frustrated (which have been many). Without your scientific and moral support, this project would have been impossible.

I am also genuinely grateful to my supervisor, Dr. Qutayba for his substantial contribution in this study, for taking his time to guide and lead me to the door of histopathology, for granting me unlimited access to the valuable resources in his lab and foremost for his continual support and encouragement that have kept me going over the last three or so years.

My best thanks and respect are due to my advisor and the director of graduate studies in the pathology department, Dr Zorychta, for her understanding, endless support and encouragement when it was most required. She was like family to me who gave me a shoulder to lean on during bad times throughout my stay in Canada.

I would also like to extend my sincere thanks to my advisor and the Director of Meakins-Christie Laboratories, Dr Martin for numerous stimulating discussions, for his wise advices and foremost for his outstanding job in running such a wonderful establishment as the Meakins-Christie Laboratories.

I also owe a special thanks to people whose contribution was very important to this project. My lab mate Chantal Cossette who was the independent observer I relied on in

iii

counting the slides and who was kindly willing to takeover the dose response experiments when I was struggling with time. She was a real partner in this project and I cannot thank her adequately for her help. In addition, I want to extend my gratitude to Mrs. Elsa Schottman, the Coordinator of the Molecular Pathology Core, for her willingness of hands-on help on immunohisochemistry, despite her intensely busy schedule. To her I owe my basic knowledge in immunohistochemistry.

Special thanks, respect and admiration go to my wonderful lab mates for being the surrogate family during the many years I stayed there. Our lab supervisor, the wonderful Sylvie Gravel, has been a great source of practical information and always provided me with a healing touch. Gail Grant, Rudi Erlemann, Chantal Cossette and Betty Stamatiou are especially thanked for their care, kindness and attention. Life would not have been the same without you guys, thank you all.

During my stay at McGill University I was surrounded by knowledgeable, friendly people and I would like to thank them all, with special thanks going to Rosa Pantano for her help with handling rats. Susumu Isogai, David Ramos-Barbon, Pierre-Olivier Fiset, Jamilah Saeed and Laura Pini for their scintific exchange and most importantly for their friendship and moral support. Rami Taha, Meri Tulic, Meiyo Tamaoka, Salem Al-Tamemi, Linda Yahiaoui, Nedjma Zitouni, Lama Fawaz, Oumnia Hajoui, Holly Campbell, Philippe Joubert, Johanne Laporte, Severine Letuvé, Hossein Koohsari, Maggie Kinyanjui, Inti Zlobec, Dave Taylor, Jean-Claude Marshall, Sonia Callejo, and Silvin Bakalian for their kindness and for providing such a stimulating and friendly environment.

I am also grateful to the secretaries and workers in the department of pathology and the Meakins-Christie Laboratories at McGill university, for making the workplace run smoothly and for assisting me in many different ways, Serge Filliatrault, Sandy

iv

Dunsford, Maria Makroyanni, Liz Milne, Mira Huffman and Barbara Tolloczko deserve special mention and thanks.

Finally, My deepest appreciation goes to all my family in Libya, specially my parents, Mr. Ali and Mrs. Selma whom without their emotional and moral support it would be impossible for me to continue, and I dedicate this thesis to them.

v

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Abstract	i
Resume	ii
Acknowledgments	iii
Table of Contents.	
Abbreviations	
List of Figures	

1. INTRODUCTION AND LITERATURE REVIEW

1.1.	Introduction-Aim of study1	
1.2.	Asthma	;
1.2.1.	The Allergic Reaction	ł
1.2.2.	Airway Remodeling	5
1.2.3.	Airway Hyperresponsiveness	5
1.2.4.	The Role of Inflammatory Cells in Asthma	7
1.2.4.a	Dendritic Cells	3
1.2.4.b.	Mast Cells	;
1.2.4.c.	Th2 Cells	9
1.3.	Role of Eosinophils in Asthma1	
1.3.1.	Eosinophil Cytoplasmic Structure12	
1.3.2.	Cell Receptors and Adhesion Molecules1	
1.3.3.	Eosinophils in Asthma1	4
1.4.	Lung Eosinophilia1	
1.4.1.	Proliferation and differentiation1	
1.4.2.	Eosinophil Priming	
1.4.3.	Rolling1	
1.4.4.	Eosinophil Diapedesis and Chemotaxis)
1.5.	Eicosanoids2	
1.5.1.	5-Lipoxygenase Pathways	2
1.5.2.	Cyclooxygenases pathway2	3
1.5.3.	PGD ₂	ł
1.5.3.a.	PGD₂ in Asthma	i
1.5.4.	DP ₁ Receptor)
1.5.4.a.	Role of DP ₁ receptor in inflammation	
1.5.5.	DP ₂ /CHRT ₂ Receptor	,
1.5.6.	15d- $\Delta^{12,14}$ -PGJ ₂ And Its receptors	5
1.5.6.a.	PPARy Receptor	
1.5.6.b.	15d-PGJ ₂ and PPARγ in Inflammation38	3

,

2. MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1.	Eicosanoids and reagents	41
2.2.	Animals and in vivo procedures	41
	Preparation of tissue sections	
	Immunocytochemistry	
	Data analysis	

3. RESULTS

3.1. PGD ₂ elicits pulmonary infiltration of eosinophils	.45
3.2. Pulmonary eosinophilia is induced by DP ₂ but not by DP ₁ receptor agonists	
	45
3.3. Time course for the effects of DP_2 receptor agonists on eosinophil	
infiltration	46
3.4. Dose-response relationship for PGD ₂ , 15d-PGJ ₂ , and 15R-methyl-PGD ₂	
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	.47

4. DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS

4.1. Discussion	53
4.2. Claims to Original Research	63
4.3. Conclusion and Future Considerations	64

5.	REFERENCES		65
----	------------	--	----

ABBREVIATIONS

AA	arachidonic acid
AHR	airway hyperresponsiveness
ANOVA	analysis of variance
APC	antigen presenting cells
BAL	bronchoalveolar lavage
B cells	B lymphocyte
BN rat	Brown Norway rat
Ca ²⁺	calcium
COX	cyclooxygenase
CRTH2	chemoattractant receptor-homologous molecule expressed on Th2 cells
Cys-LTs	cysteinyl leukotrienes
•	5 5
DC	dendritic cells
·	
DC	dendritic cells
DC dhk-PGD ₂	dendritic cells 13,14-dihydro-15-ketoprostaglandin D ₂
DC dhk-PGD ₂ 15d-PGJ ₂	dendritic cells 13,14-dihydro-15-ketoprostaglandin D_2 15-deoxy- $\Delta^{12,14}$ -prostaglandin J_2
DC dhk-PGD ₂ 15d-PGJ ₂ ECP	dendritic cells 13,14-dihydro-15-ketoprostaglandin D_2 15-deoxy- $\Delta^{12,14}$ -prostaglandin J_2 eosinophil cationic protein
DC dhk-PGD ₂ 15d-PGJ ₂ ECP EDN	dendritic cells 13,14-dihydro-15-ketoprostaglandin D_2 15-deoxy- $\Delta^{12,14}$ -prostaglandin J_2 eosinophil cationic protein eosinophil derived neurotoxin
DC dhk-PGD ₂ 15d-PGJ ₂ ECP EDN EPO	dendritic cells 13,14-dihydro-15-ketoprostaglandin D_2 15-deoxy- $\Delta^{12,14}$ -prostaglandin J_2 eosinophil cationic protein eosinophil derived neurotoxin eosinophil peroxidase
DC dhk-PGD ₂ 15d-PGJ ₂ ECP EDN EPO EPX	dendritic cells 13,14-dihydro-15-ketoprostaglandin D ₂ 15-deoxy-Δ ^{12,14} -prostaglandin J ₂ eosinophil cationic protein eosinophil derived neurotoxin eosinophil peroxidase eosinophil protein X
DC dhk-PGD ₂ 15d-PGJ ₂ ECP EDN EPO EPX EPR	dendritic cells 13,14-dihydro-15-ketoprostaglandin D ₂ 15-deoxy-Δ ^{12,14} -prostaglandin J ₂ eosinophil cationic protein eosinophil derived neurotoxin eosinophil peroxidase eosinophil protein X early phase response

5-HETE5-hydroxy-6,8,11,14-eicosatetraenoic acid5-HPETE5-hydroperoxy-6,8,11,14-eicosatetraenoic acidICAM-1intracellular adhesion molecule 1ICAM-3intracellular adhesion moleculeICAM-2intracellular adhesion moleculeICAM-2intracellular adhesion moleculeIFN-γinterferon gammaIgimmunoglobulinILinterleukiniNOSinducible nitric oxide synthaseIVintravenousLARlate asthmatic responseLTC4leukotriene C4LTD4leukotriene E4LTE4leukotriene E4LTSleukotrienes5-LO5-lipoxygenasemAbmonoclonal antibodyMAPmitogen-activated proteinMBPmajor basic proteinMDCmacrophage-derived chemokineMHCIImajor histocompatibility complex class IINOnitric oxide		
ICAM-1intracellular adhesion molecule 1ICAM-3intracellular adhesion moleculeICAM-2intracellular adhesion moleculeICAM-2intracellular adhesion moleculeIFN-γinterferon gammaIgimmunoglobulinILinterleukinINOSinducible nitric oxide synthaseIVintravenousLARlate asthmatic responseLTC4leukotriene C4LTD4leukotriene E4LTE4leukotriene E4LTSleukotrienes5-LO5-lipoxygenasemAbmonoclonal antibodyMAPmajor basic proteinMEPmacrophage colony stimulating factorMDCmajor histocompatibility complex class II	5-HETE	5-hydroxy-6,8,11,14-eicosatetraenoic acid
ICAM-3intracellular adhesion moleculeICAM-2intracellular adhesion moleculeIFN-γinterferon gammaIginmunoglobulinILinterleukiniNOSinducible nitric oxide synthaseIVintravenousLARlate asthmatic responseLTC4leukotriene C4LTD4leukotriene E4LTE4leukotriene E4LTSlipocalin-type PGD synthaseS-LO5-lipoxygenasemAbmonoclonal antibodyMAPmajor basic proteinMBPmast cellsM-CSFmacrophage colony stimulating factorMHCIImajor histocompatibility complex class II	5-HPETE	5-hydroperoxy-6,8,11,14-eicosatetraenoic acid
ICAM-2intracellular adhesion moleculeIFN-γinterferon gammaIginmunoglobulinILinterleukiniNOSinducible nitric oxide synthaseIVintravenousLARlate asthmatic responseLTC4leukotriene C4LTD4leukotriene E4LTE4leukotriene E4LTSlipocalin-type PGD synthaseS-LO5-lipoxygenasemAbmonoclonal antibodyMAPmajor basic proteinMCmast cellsM-CSFmacrophage colony stimulating factorMHCIImajor histocompatibility complex class II	ICAM-1	intracellular adhesion molecule 1
IFN-γinterferon gammaIgimmunoglobulinILinterleukiniNOSinducible nitric oxide synthaseIVintravenousLARlate asthmatic responseLTC4leukotriene C4LTD4leukotriene D4LTE4leukotriene E4LTSleukotrienesS-LOS-lipoxygenasemAbmonoclonal antibodyMAPmajor basic proteinMBPmajor basic proteinMCmacrophage colony stimulating factorMDCmajor histocompatibility complex class II	ICAM-3	intracellular adhesion molecule
IgimmunoglobulinILinterleukinINOSinducible nitric oxide synthaseINOSinducible nitric oxide synthaseIVintravenousLARlate asthmatic responseLTC4leukotriene C4LTD4leukotriene D4LTE4leukotriene E4LTSleukotrienes5LO5-lipoxygenaseMAPmitogen-activated proteinMDCmacrophage colony stimulating factorMDCmajor histocompatibility complex class II	ICAM-2	intracellular adhesion molecule
ILinterleukiniNOSinducible nitric oxide synthaseIVintravenousLARlate asthmatic responseLTC4leukotriene C4LTD4leukotriene D4LTE4leukotriene E4L-PGDSlipocalin-type PGD synthaseLTsleukotrienes5-LO5-lipoxygenasemAbmonoclonal antibodyMAPmitogen-activated proteinMCmast cellsM-CSFmacrophage colony stimulating factorMHCIImajor histocompatibility complex class II	IFN-γ	interferon gamma
iNOSinducible nitric oxide synthaseIVintravenousIVlate asthmatic responseLARlate asthmatic responseLTC4leukotriene C4LTD4leukotriene D4LTE4leukotriene E4LPGDSlipocalin-type PGD synthaseJTSs-lipoxygenasemAbmonoclonal antibodyMAPmais cellsMCmast cellsMCSFmacrophage-derived chemokineMHCIImajor histocompatibility complex class II	Ig	immunoglobulin
IVintravenousIARlate asthmatic responseLARleukotriene C4LTC4leukotriene D4LTE4leukotriene E4L-PGDSlipocalin-type PGD synthaseLTsleukotrienes5-LO5-lipoxygenasemAbmonoclonal antibodyMAPmitogen-activated proteinMCmast cellsM-CSFmacrophage colony stimulating factorMHCIImajor histocompatibility complex class II	IL	interleukin
LARlate asthmatic responseLTC4leukotriene C4LTD4leukotriene D4LTE4leukotriene E4L-PGDSlipocalin-type PGD synthaseLTSleukotrienesS-LO5-lipoxygenasemAbmonoclonal antibodyMAPmajor basic proteinMCmast cellsM-CSFmacrophage-derived chemokineMHCIImajor histocompatibility complex class II	iNOS	inducible nitric oxide synthase
LTC4leukotriene C4LTD4leukotriene D4LTE4leukotriene E4L-PGDSlipocalin-type PGD synthaseLTsleukotrienes5-LO5-lipoxygenasemAbmonoclonal antibodyMAPmitogen-activated proteinMBPmajor basic proteinMCmast cellsM-CSFmacrophage colony stimulating factorMHCHmajor histocompatibility complex class II	IV	intravenous
LTD4leukotriene D4LTE4leukotriene E4L-PGDSlipocalin-type PGD synthaseLTsleukotrienes5-LO5-lipoxygenasemAbmonoclonal antibodyMAPmitogen-activated proteinMBPmajor basic proteinMCmast cellsM-CSFmacrophage colony stimulating factorMHCIImajor histocompatibility complex class II	LAR	late asthmatic response
LTE4leukotriene E4L-PGDSlipocalin-type PGD synthaseLTsleukotrienes5-LO5-lipoxygenasemAbmonoclonal antibodyMAPmitogen-activated proteinMBPmajor basic proteinMCmast cellsM-CSFmacrophage colony stimulating factorMDCmajor histocompatibility complex class II	LTC ₄	leukotriene C ₄
L-PGDSlipocalin-type PGD synthaseLTsleukotrienes5-LO5-lipoxygenasemAbmonoclonal antibodyMAPmitogen-activated proteinMBPmajor basic proteinMCmast cellsM-CSFmacrophage colony stimulating factorMDCmacrophage-derived chemokineMHCIImajor histocompatibility complex class II	LTD ₄	leukotriene D ₄
LTsleukotrienes5-LO5-lipoxygenasemAbmonoclonal antibodyMAPmitogen-activated proteinMBPmajor basic proteinMCmast cellsM-CSFmacrophage colony stimulating factorMDCmacrophage-derived chemokineMHCIImajor histocompatibility complex class II	LTE ₄	leukotriene E ₄
5-LO5-lipoxygenasemAbmonoclonal antibodyMAPmitogen-activated proteinMBPmajor basic proteinMCmast cellsM-CSFmacrophage colony stimulating factorMDCmacrophage-derived chemokineMHCIImajor histocompatibility complex class II	L-PGDS	lipocalin-type PGD synthase
mAbmonoclonal antibodyMAPmitogen-activated proteinMBPmajor basic proteinMCmast cellsM-CSFmacrophage colony stimulating factorMDCmacrophage-derived chemokineMHCIImajor histocompatibility complex class II	LTs	leukotrienes
MAPmitogen-activated proteinMBPmajor basic proteinMCmast cellsM-CSFmacrophage colony stimulating factorMDCmacrophage-derived chemokineMHCIImajor histocompatibility complex class II	5-LO	5-lipoxygenase
MBPmajor basic proteinMCmast cellsM-CSFmacrophage colony stimulating factorMDCmacrophage-derived chemokineMHCIImajor histocompatibility complex class II	mAb	monoclonal antibody
MCmast cellsM-CSFmacrophage colony stimulating factorMDCmacrophage-derived chemokineMHCIImajor histocompatibility complex class II	MAP	mitogen-activated protein
M-CSFmacrophage colony stimulating factorMDCmacrophage-derived chemokineMHCIImajor histocompatibility complex class II	MBP	major basic protein
MDCmacrophage-derived chemokineMHCIImajor histocompatibility complex class II	МС	mast cells
MHCII major histocompatibility complex class II	M-CSF	macrophage colony stimulating factor
	MDC	macrophage-derived chemokine
NO nitric oxide	MHCII	major histocompatibility complex class II
	NO	nitric oxide

ОСТ	optimal cutting temperature
OVA	ovalbumin
5-Oxo-ETE	5-Oxo-6,8,11,14-eicosatetraenoic acid
PAF	platelet activating factor
PGD ₂	prostaglandin D ₂
PGE ₂	prostaglandin E ₂
PGs	prostaglandins
PLA ₂	phospholipases A ₂
PPAR-7	peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma
P-selectin	platelet-selectin
RANTES	regulated upon activation in normal T cells
RXR	retinoid X receptors
15(R)-PGD ₂	15(R)-15-methyl PGD ₂
sECP	serum eosinophil cationic proteins
SMC	smooth muscle cells
TBS	tris-buffered saline
T cells	T lymphocyte
TGF-β ₁	transforming growth factor beta ₁
Th ₁	T helper type 1
Th2	T helper type 2
TNF-a	tumor necrosis factor - alpha
TNF-γ	tumor necrosis factor-gamma
TXA ₂	thromboxanes A ₂
TXs	thromboxanes

VCAM-1	vascular adhesion molecule-1
VLA-1	very late activation antigen-1
VLA-4	very late antigen (CD1149d/CD29)
VLA-6	very late antigen

LIST OF FIGURES

page

Figure 1. Inflammatory process in asthma 11
Figure 2. Eicosanoids formation
Figure 3. PGD ₂ metabolism27
Figure 4. Relationship among eicosanoid receptors
Figure 5. Structures of selective DP ₂ receptor agonists
Figure 6. Immunochemical staining of lung sections shows eosinophils around the
airways48
Figure 7. Immunochemical staining of lung sections shows eosinophils around the blood
vessels and within the parenchyma49
Figure 8. Effects of PGD_2 and selective PGD_2 receptor agonists on lung eosinophil
numbers
Figure 9. Time courses for the effects of PGD_2 and selective DP_2 receptor agonists on
lung eosinophils
Figure 10. Dose-response relationship for the effects of PGD_2 and related compounds on
lung eosinophils
Figure 11. Targeting eosinophils

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION AND LITERATURE REVIEW

1.1. Introduction-Aim of study

Asthma is a chronic, allergic inflammatory airway disease characterized by a biphasic allergic reaction consisting of early and late phase responses. The late phase allergic reaction is accompanied by the infiltration of inflammatory cells into the lung, particularly eosinophils and CD4⁺ Th2 cells [1]. Eosinophils are believed to be important effector cells in this disease since it has been clearly shown that there is a good correlation between their numbers in peripheral blood, bronchoalveolar lavage and bronchial mucosa and the severity of the disease [2]. Eosinophils and their mediators can contribute to asthma by different effects including damage to the lung epithelium [3], augmentation of the inflammatory response and the process of remodelling [4].

The identification of molecules that specifically regulate the recruitment of eosinophils and subsequently blocking the effect of these molecules offers new therapeutic strategies. The recruitment of eosinophils to sites of allergic inflammation is a complex process, occurring at a number of stages in the life cycle of the eosinophil where different mediators and adhesion receptors influence the accumulation process [5]. Among the mediators implicated in this process are the inflammatory cytokines (e.g., IL-3, IL-4, IL-5, IL-1 β , GM-CSF and TNF- α), the chemokines (e.g., RANTES, monocyte chemoattractant protein-3, macrophage inflammatory protein-1 α , and eotaxin), and lipid mediators [5]. Prostaglandin D₂ (PGD₂) is a major lipid mediator released mainly from mast cells and Th2 cells and elicits its biological actions through interaction with two PGD₂ receptors, the DP₁ receptor and the DP₂ receptor, also known as CRTH₂ (chemoattractant receptor-homologous molecule expressed on Th2 cells) [6]. PGD₂ levels in bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) fluid increase dramatically following allergen challenge of asthmatic subjects and

1

hematopoietic-type PGD₂ synthase is abundant in cells that play an important role in asthma [7] [8]. However, the precise role of PGD₂ in allergic asthma remains unclear. An important area of research is now concerned with the effect of PGD₂ on eosinophil recruitment and a number of studies provide evidence for such role. For instance, Monneret et al demonstrated that PGD₂ is a potent eosinophil chemoattractant in vitro that acts via the novel DP₂ receptor rather than via the classic DP₁ receptor [9]. Another study by Matsuoka et al., showed that disruption of the DP₁ receptor gene attenuated allergen-induced airway eosinophilic inflammation, probably by reducing Th2 cytokine levels [10]. Gervais et al showed that PGD₂ triggers eosinophil degranulation and induces a rapid change in cell morphology through the DP₂ receptor/CRTH₂ [11].

The aim of this study was to test the hypothesis that administration of PGD₂ into the lungs results in pulmonary eosinophilia. If our hypothesis was correct, we then wanted to determine which of the two PGD₂ receptors mediated this response. To accomplish these aims, we investigated the effect on eosinophil recruitment of intratracheally administered PGD₂ which acts through both DP₁ and DP₂ receptors, as well as selective agonists of the DP₁ (BW245C) and the DP₂ (15R-methyl-PGD₂ and 13,14-dihydro-15-oxo-PGD₂) receptors. We also wanted to examine the effect of 15deoxy- $\Delta^{12,14}$ -PGJ₂ (15d-PGJ₂) which could potentially have both inhibitory and stimulatory effects on eosinophils through its interaction with the DP₂ receptors and PPARγ/NF-κB, respectively [12].

The remainder of this chapter will provide background information pertinent to the current study. Asthma pathogenesis and the involvement of inflammatory cells in this disease will first be discussed, with particular emphasis placed on the role of eosinophils. In addition background information about arachidonic acid metabolites,

2

their receptors, and their involvement in inflammation in general and in asthma in particular will be presented.

1.2. Asthma

Asthma is a widespread disease in the industrialized world and its occurrence has almost doubled in the last 20 years [13]. Some cases of asthma can be fatal and approximately 5,000 people die each year due to this disease [14]. Although it has changed over time, the current definition of asthma covers most of the clinical and pathological aspects of this complex disease, which is "A chronic inflammatory disease of the airways in which many cell types play a role, in particular mast cells, eosinophils and T lymphocytes. In susceptible individuals, the inflammation causes recurrent episodes of wheezing, breathlessness, chest tightness and cough, particularly at night and/or early morning. These symptoms are usually associated with widespread but variable airflow obstruction that is at least partly reversible either spontaneously or with treatment" [1]. Asthma also associated with characteristic airway remodelling which is accompanied by airway hyperresponsiveness to a variety of stimuli [15]. Even though asthma is multifactorial in cause, the most identifiable predisposing factor for the development of this disease is the genetic tendency for the development of an IgE-mediated response to distinct environmental allergens [16]. In general, the reaction to an allergen can be divided into two phases namely; the early phase response and late phase response [17].

1.2.1. The Allergic Reaction

The allergic reaction starts with a sensetization process that take place when environmental allergens are processed by antigen presenting cells (APC) that have the ability to present antigen to T and B cells. In the presence of an appropriate microenvironment differentiation of naive T cells into Th2 lymphocytes occurs. These Th2 cells interact with B cells initiating B cell production of IgE antibodies. This interaction is regulated by soluble and cell surface molecules (CD40L, CD154) provided by activated Th2 cells in the presence of Th2 cytokines including IL-4 and IL-13 [18, 19]. This results in the production of large amounts of IgE antibodies directed against specific environmental allergens. Mast cells in turn, have high affinity receptors on their surfaces that can bind to the Fc region of the IgE antibodies, so that after the initial exposure, mast cells will have large numbers of specific IgE attached to their surfaces [20].

On a second exposure to allergens, the allergens can cross-link the IgE antibody's Fab-site, on the mast cell, and induces lung mast cell activation resulting in the occurrence of the early phase response. The early response (EPR) is an acute bronchospastic event that occurs 15–30 minutes after exposure to allergen and resolves over a relatively short period of time [21]. Mast cells activation lead to a rapid release of their mediators (ie, histamine, cys-LTs, PGD₂, and tryptase) [20]. These mediators are largely appreciated to be the key for the development of airflow obstruction seen in early phase via the induction of bronchial smooth muscle constriction and bronchial wall oedema [20]. In most asthmatic subjects, the early asthmatic response is followed by a delayed bronchoconstrictor response termed the late asthmatic response (LAR) [22].

The LAR occurs between 6 to 9 h after allergen challenge and involves the recruitment and activation of eosinophils [23], CD4⁺ T cells [24], basophils [25], neutrophils [26], and macrophages [27]. The release of preformed cytokines by mast cells is the likely initial trigger for the early recruitment of cells [1]. The interaction of these recruited cells with resident cells such as mast cells, macrophages, epithelial cells and endothelial cells generates a cascade of events that contributes to pathological changes seen in the airway [28, 29]. The role of some of these important cells in asthma pathogeneses will be highlighted later with special emphasis placed on the role of the eosinophils.

1.2.2. Airway Remodelling

One important chronic squeal of asthma is the structural alteration of lung tissue known as airway remodelling. Pathological changes seen in airways from asthmatic patients include: hyperplasia of mucus glands, mucus hypersecretion, smooth muscle hypertrophy, epithelial damage, subepithelial fibrosis, and inflammatory cell infiltrates [30] [17]. These structural changes contribute to the severity and chronicity of asthma by amplifying airway narrowing through the increase in thickness of the bronchial wall [31].

Among all of the structural changes occurring, smooth muscle hypertrophy is considered the most important. In addition to contraction and relaxation, smooth muscle has other important roles in asthma including the secretion of immunomodulatory cytokines and chemokines, and expression of key surface receptors involved in cell adhesion and leukocyte activation [32]. Although the mechanisms underlying airway remodelling in asthma are still unclear, it is widely believed that it results from a complex interaction between different inflammatory cells (i.e., mast cells, eosinophils, T cells, neutrophils and macrophages) and structural cells (i.e., fibroblasts, endothelial cells, smooth muscle cells) [33]. Eosinophils in particular may play an important role in the remodelling since they are a source of several mediators that could be implicated in this process including TGF- α , TGF- β_1 , FGF-2, VEGF, TIMP-1, LTD₄ and IL-13 [34]. These structural alterations render airways more susceptible to various stimuli, a phenomenon known as airway hyperresponsiveness.

1.2.3. Airway Hyperresponsiveness

Airway hyperresponsiveness (AHR), is a well-established feature of asthma in which exaggerated airway narrowing is easily elicited by a large number of stimuli such as histamine, methacholine or specific antigens [15]. Aairway hyperresponsi veness is a result of a nonspecific increase in reactivity as well as sensitivity of the airways [35, 36]. Although the exact pathophysiology of AHR is not well defined, a variety of mechanisms may be involved in its development. For instance, airway epithelial damage is positively correlated with airway hyperreactivity [37]. The loss of airway epithelium may augment the response of the airways to various stimuli by increasing the level of exposure to these stimuli [17]. Structural changes in asthma may also contribute to AHR. Smooth muscle (SMC) hypertrophy is present in the lungs of asthmatics and may contribute to an exaggerated narrowing of the airways in response to a variety of environmental stimuli [17]. In addition, responsiveness to sympathetic input regulating relaxation of the airway via β-adrenergic receptors on airway SMC has also been shown to be impaired in asthmatics [38]. Possibly due to the effect of IL-1 and TNF-α [39].

6

Inflammation may also play an important role in AHR. Airway sensitivity was found to be related to sputum eosinophil numbers [40] and the concentration of eosinophil-derived major basic protein (MBP) in BAL fluid [37]. Additionally, the MBP has been shown to enhance the release of the neurotransmitter acetylcholine from parasympathetic nerve terminals by blocking activation of the M₂, inhibitory receptor on the nerve endings [41], resulting in enhanced narrowing of the airway wall for any given stimulus. It has also been shown that inflammation is associated with increased release of a number of sensory neuropeptides, including substance P and neurokinins, that probably enhances reflex constriction of airway smooth muscle [17]. Finally, an array of inflammatory mediators released by eosinophils and mast cells can directly constrict airways including PAF, histamine, leukotrienes, and eosinophil granule proteins [17].

1.2.4. The Role of Inflammatory Cells in Asthma

Asthma is a very difficult disease to study in view of its complexity and the large number of mediators and cellular components known to be involved in its pathogenesis. Samples of BAL fluid, sputum, and airway biopsy specimens and have revealed that inflammation of the airways exhibits distinctive patterns in asthma [42]. The key cells known to be involved in asthma are eosinophils, mast cells, antigen presenting cells, epithelial cells, fibroblasts, and bronchial SMC (fig.1) [16]. These cells either inflammatory or structural, orchestrate the process of asthma mainly by releasing a large number of inflammatory mediators, the important of which are histamine, PAF, PGs, cys-LTs, toxic oxygen radicals, and cytokines [43] [44]. In this section I will discuss the role of dendritic cells, mast Cells and Th2 cells in asthma.

1.2.4.a Dendritic Cells

Dendritic cells (DC) are present in the upper airway, bronchial mucosa, lung interstitium, and pleura [45]. Their major role is to process environmental antigens and present them to T-cells [46]. This process is very important for naive T cells to proliferate and differentiate to become Th2-cells in response to allergen exposure [47]. The numbers of DC are notably higher in the airways of asthmatics compared with those of control subjects [48]. DC in the normal airway are immature, expressing low levels of MHC Class II and Fct RI [49] and [50]. However, after antigen uptake DC turn into mature cells expressing higher levels of MHC Class II and Fct RI [49] [50]. DC not only act as antigen presenting cells but also play an important role in the immune response. For instance, It has been shown that a subset of DC retains the ability to activate memory T-cells long after antigen inhalation and to play a role in the maintenance of chronic allergic airway inflammation [51].

1.2.4.b. Mast Cells

Mast cells arise in the bone marrow from hematopoietic pregenitor cells, enter the circulation as an immature cells, and travel to mucosal and submucosal sites in the airways where they undergo their terminal stages of differentiation/ maturation [16]. In asthma mast cells are believed to be vital during the early asthmatic response [52]. Increased mast cell number are present in the airways in asthma [37]. When an asthmatic subject encounters a second exposure to allergen, the allergen can cross-link the IgE antibody's Fab-site on the mast cell eliciting the release of both pre-formed (e.g. histamine, cytokines, and proteoglycans) [20] and newly synthesized (e.g. arachidonic acid metabolites including PGD₂ and LTC4) mediators [53]. Mast cell

mediators are largely responsible for the acute airway narrowing seen in the early phase of the asthmatic reaction. Mast cell mediators may contribute to airway narrowing directly by increasing muscle contraction [22], increasing the thickness of the airway by causing vasodilatation and microvascular leakage [54], and inducing mucus secretion [20]. Mast cells mediators also contribute to asthma by induceing leukocyte infiltration [20]. They could also contribute to airway remodelling by facilitating SMC hyperplasia through the mitogenic effects of their tryptases [55]. Furthermore, many studies related mast cell numbers in BAL fluid and airway biopsies to AHR [37]. There is wide agreement that these cells play a central role in the early asthmatic reaction, and they can also play a role in late phase responses [56].

1.2.4.c. Th2 Cells

High numbers of T lymphocytes are found in BAL fluid and bronchial biopsies from asthmatics [19, 57, 58]. Originally, T cells were subdivided into two broad subsets according to their surface cell markers and distinct functions: the CD4⁺ (T helper) and the CD8⁺ (T cytotoxic) cells. CD4⁺ T lymphocytes can differentiate toward a T helper type 1 (Th₁) or Th2 phenotype each of which has its own cytokine profile [59]. The most important factor that determines the differentiation toward the Th2 phenotype in asthma is the presence of IL-4 [60]. Activated Th2 cells produce IL-4, IL-13, IL-5, IL-9, IL-6, and IL-10 [24]. In asthmatics, Th2 cells are not only increased in number but are also activated. Th2 cells from BAL, blood, and bronchial biopsies showed amplified expression of IL-2 receptor, class II histocompatibility antigens, and VLA-1 [61] [62]. Several lines of evidence support the involvement of Th2 cells in the pathogenesis of asthma. Firstly, the increased numbers of activated Th2 cells observed in asthmatics correlate with the numbers of activated eosinophils, and the severity of the disease [63] [64]. Secondly, depletion of $CD4^+$ T cells in sensitized mice prior to local lung antigen challenge prevented the development of allergen-induced allergic airway responses [65]. Furthermore, AHR can be induced in naive mice by adoptive transfer of Th2 clones into their lungs [66]. Thirdly, studies have shown that the administration of agents that inhibit Th2 cytokine production and stimulate Th₁ pathways prevents the development of antigen-induced AHR and inflammation in murine models [66, 67]. The effect of Th2 cells in asthma are mediated by the release of cytokines including IL-4, IL-13, and IL-5 which results in stimulation of IgE production, AHR and eosinophil differentiation and activation [17]. In the following section, I will discuss in details the link between eosinophils as effector cells in asthma.



Fig.1. Inflammatory process in asthma. Several inflammatory and structural cells interact in a complex manner and release multiple inflammatory mediators that act on various target cells in the airways to produce the characteristic pathophysiology of asthma.

1.3. Role of Eosinophils in Asthma

The eosinophil granulocyte is a white blood cell, the major role of which is to destroy invading parasites [68]. The eosinophil has a bilobed nucleus and a cytoplasm filled with characteristic granules, which have strong affinity for the negatively charged dye eosin [69]. In normal situations the eosinophils comprise only 1-5% of the leukocyte population in the circulation, and have a lifetime of about 3-4 days in blood, while in tissue their life span varies from a few days to several weeks, depending on their state of activation and the presence of survival factors such as IL-5, IL-3 and GM-CSF [70].

1.3.1. Eosinophil Cytoplasmic Structure

Distinct populations of granules are present within the eosinophil cytoplasm including primary granules, specific granules, and small granules [69]. Lipid bodies and a variety of vesicular structures are also present. The primary granules are spherical, membrane-bound structures that have a matrix without a core. MBP is diffused in the primary granules and during their maturation it forms a crystal core characteristic of the specific granules. Primary granules are abundant in eosinophil progenitors but rare in mature cells, where they constitute 5% of all granules [71].

The other set of cytoplasmic granular structures is the specific granule that contains a crystal core surrounded by homogeneous matrix. The crystal core consists mostly of MBP [72] in addition to other proteins such as IL-2, IL-4, IL-5,GM CSF [73-75], cathepsin and catalase [76] [77]. On the other hand, the matrix of the specific granules acts as a storage area for a large number of preformed eosinophil mediators, including eosinophil peroxidase (EPO), eosinophil protein X (EPX) and eosinophil cationic protein (ECP) [34]. In addition, the specific granule matrix also contains other important mediators such as IL-6 [78], TNF– α [79], RANTES [80] and proteoglycans [81]. The third set of cytoplasmic granular structures is the lipid bodies which are considered to be a storage site for arachidonic acid [82] and of enzymes involved in lipid metabolism, such as cyclooxygenase and 5- and 15- lipoxygenase. Lipid bodies characteristically increase in size and number in activated eosinophils [83] [84].

1.3.2. Cell Receptors and Adhesion Molecules

Important elements of the eosinophil are the plasma membrane receptors, through which secretion is mediated or regulated. Among them are receptors for cytokines (e.g. IL-3, IL-5, GM-CSF, TNF- α , [85-88]), immunoglobulins (IgG [89] IgA [90] and IgE [91]) and lipid mediators (PGD₂, 5-oxo-ETE, LTD₄, PGE₂, and PAF [6]). In addition eosinophils express adhesion molecules on their surface including: β 1 and β 2 integrins [92, 93], L-selectin [94], intracellular adhesion molecule (ICAM-1) [95, 96] and the counterligands for selectins E and P [97] [98]. Since eosinophil migration is the main focus of this thesis, the role of eosinophil adhesion molecules will be discussed in the following section.

Adhesion receptors are essential for the adherence of eosinophils to the blood vessel endothelium and their subsequent migration into the tissue. In general, eosinophil adhesion receptors can be divided into selectins and integrins [99]. The selectin family are responsible for the preliminary and reversible attachment of eosinophils to endothelial cells [100]. Selectins are characterized by a Ca^{2+} -dependent lectin domain which is able to bind to glycoproteins that contain the carbohydrate structure sialyl Lewis X [100]. The selectin family consists of three proteins; E-selectin, P-selectin and L-selectin. L-selectin is expressed on most circulating leukocytes and is constitutively expressed on eosinophils [101]. It is rapidly shed from the cell surface, which may explain the reversible nature of

13

the binding. L-selectin interacts with MAdCAM-1, CD13 and with the other selectins [100].

Integrins are large heterodimeric proteins composed of α and β -subunits [102]. They are usually expressed on cell surfaces and their ligands are preferentially expressed both on endothelial cells and in the extracellular matrix proteins [103]. Eosinophils express the β_1 integrins $\alpha_4\beta_1$ (CD49d/CD29), a heterodimer called very late antigen (VLA)-4, and $\alpha_6\beta_1$ (VLA-6) [104]. These *adhesion molecules* allow eosinophils to interact with the extracellular matrix proteins laminin, fibronectin and fibrinogen [100]. On the other hand, VLA-4 also binds to VCAM-1, which is expressed on endothelial cells and mediates selective eosinophil recruitment [105]. As for the β_2 integrins, eosinophils express $\alpha L\beta_2$ (CD11a/CD18), $\alpha M\beta_2$ (CD11b/CD18), $\alpha X\beta_2$ (CD11c/CD18) and $\alpha D\beta_2$. Their counter-structures are intercellular adhesion molecule (ICAM)-1, -2 and -3 as well as VCAM-1, fibrinogen and the complement fragment C3bi [106-110]. Integrins play a major role in allergic disease because of their involvement in adhesion and transendothelial migration of eosinophils and other leukocytes [111].

1.3.3. Eosinophils in Asthma

The presence of eosinophilic infiltration in the airways has been known for almost 100 years, having first been reported in 1908 in a patient who died of asthma [112]. Since then elevated numbers of eosinophils have consistently been found in bronchial biopsy specimens, BAL fluid, sputum [113] and peripheral blood of asthmatics [114]. Increased numbers of eosinophils have also been noted in bone marrow of atopic patients with asthma [115]. Moreover, progenitor CD 34^+ cells bear the IL-5 receptor with increased responsiveness to IL-5 suggesting they are primed for differentiation

toward eosinophils [116]. Higher levels of the eosinophil activation marker ECP have been reported in BAL fluid [117], sputum, nasal washes [118, 119] and serum [120, 121] from patients with asthma compared to healthy subjects. In addition, eosinophilia in response to allergen challenge is associated with elevated levels of eosinophilderived cytokines in both the lung and peripheral blood [122].

The occurrence of pulmonary eosinophila has been associated with the development of several aspects of asthma including airway hyperresponsiveness, epithelial damage, and airway remodelling [123, 124]. Eosinophils promote allergic inflammation, at least in part, via the release of a series of mediators that not only have proinflammatory effects but also act as growth factors, stimulants, and chemoattractants [125]. Among eosinophil mediators are GM-CSF, TGF- β_1 , TNF- γ , IL -3, IL-4, IL-5, IL-6, IL-10, IL-11, IL -12, IL-13, IFN- γ , RANTES and eotaxin [126]. In addition to these mediators, eosinophils release granule proteins, including MBP, ECP and EDN [127]. The presence of eosinophils and their mediators can contribute to asthma by different effects including damage to the lung epithelium [3], augmentation of the inflammatory process and the process of remodelling [4].

Many studies provide support for a link between eosinophils and AHR in asthmatics. A study in IL-5-deficient transgenic mice showed that these animals failed to develop AHR and eosinophilia after allergen challenge [128]. Consistent with this, anti–IL-5 almost completely abrogated eosinophilia and airway hyperresponsiveness in an allergen challenged monkey model [129]. Another study by Justice *et al.*[130], in which airway, tissue and blood eosinophils were specifically depleted using a monoclonal antibody against CCR3 provides further support for this notion. In this study, the depletion of virtually all pulmonary eosinophils in OVA-treated mice led to a significant reduction of AHR following allergen challenge. On the other, a number of recent studies[131] showed that eosinophils are not essential for airway hyperresponsiveness in asthma, the findings of these studies will be reviewed in the discussion section.

Despite the reported association between the presence of eosinophils and AHR, the precise mechanisms by which eosinophils influence AHR are not well defined. PAF-activated eosinophils cause contraction of human airway smooth muscle predominantly, but not solely, through the release of leukotrienes [132]. It has also been reported that supernatants from activated eosinophils causes hyperresponsiveness of airway smooth muscle in guinea pig trachea. This effect was attributed to the leukotrienes released from eosinophils [133]. Another study has demonstrated that eosinophil-drived MBP causes contraction of guinea pig airways through an epithelium-dependent mechanism [134]. Furthermore, intraepithelial administration of MBP augments the contraction of underlying canine tracheal smooth muscle elicited by acetylcholine [135]. Another possible explanation for the involvement of eosinophils in hyperresponssivness is its capacity to secrete IL-13 [136], which has potent spasmogenic properties [137].

Eosinophils can influence airway function by producing effects on airway remodelling. It has been shown that TGF- β_1 mRNA is overexpressed in severe asthmatics and that the main source of the mRNA is eosinophils [31]. Phipps *et al.* [138], using an allergen-induced skin model of asthmatic inflammation, showed that the release of transforming growth factor- β and IL-13 by eosinophils contributes to remodelling in allergic inflammation in human atopic skin. It also has been shown that eosinophils contribute to epithelial damage and loss particularly via their highly basic granule proteins – MBP, ECPs and eosinophil peroxidase [139]. In addition, many

16

other molecules secreted by eosinophils have been implicated in the remodelling processes including TGF- α , FGF-2, VEGF, TIMP-1, and LTD₄ [34].

In asthma there is a strong association between the two main effector cells eosinophils and Th2 cells. In both humans and rodent models, allergen-induced recruitment of eosinophils into the lung is correlated to CD4⁺ T cells and their cytokines [126]. Studies showing expression of major histocompatibility complex class II (MHCII) and the T cell costimulatory molecules CD80 and CD86 by eosinophils from allergic lungs suggesting that these cells can directly communicate with helper T cells to regulate the immune response [140] [141]. This notion was confirmed in a study by Mackenzie et al. where they showed that eosinophils have a role in presenting allergen to stimulate CD4⁺ T-helper cells [142]. In this study, eosinophils from the allergic lung rapidly internalized and processed Ag that was sampled from within the airway lumen. Ag-loaded eosinophils promoted the production of IL-4, IL-5, and IL-13 in cocultures with in vitro-polarized Th2 cells and induced IL-5 production from Ag-specific CD4⁺ T cells isolated from allergic mice. Another recent study by Shi et al., further confirmed the above findings and demonstrated that antigen exposed airway eosinophils function both in vitro and in vivo as APCs to promote the secretion of Th2 cytokines [126]. These findings highlight the potential role of eosinophils to actively modulate immune responses by amplifying Th2 cell responses.

There are appealing data that attribute the affect of anti-asthmatic drugs at least in part to their effect on eosinophils. It has been shown that treatment of children with inhaled corticosteroids is associated with a significant decrease in the number of eosinophils and levels of serum eosinophil cationic proteins (sECP) [143] [144]. Corticosteroid treatment reduces the survival of eosinophils possibly by reducing the levels of the eosinophil survival factors IL-5 and GM-CSF [145]. Recently,

measurement of eosinophil proteins has been used to assess inflammatory status. A number of investigators have reported on the usefulness of measuring serum levels of ECP proteins in assessing airway inflammation and the efficacy of anti-inflammatory treatment in asthmatic children [146]. Eosinophil protein X is the only one of the four basic eosinophil granule proteins that can be accurately measured in urine and is most commonly used to investigate eosinophil activation and inflammation in children with asthma [147].

1.4. Lung Eosinophilia

In response to allergic stimuli in the lung, eosinophils are mobilized from the bone marrow and traffic to the airways. The migration of eosinophils into tissues is a multi-stage process involving interaction between eosinophils, endothelial cells and wide array of mediators [148]. This multi-stage process includes proliferation of eosinophils in the bone marrow, priming of the eosinophils, rolling along the endothelial cells, firm adhesion to the endothelium, trans-endothelial diapedesis and chemotaxis into the inflammatory site [149].

1.4.1. Proliferation and differentiation

Eosinophils are produced in the bone marrow from CD34⁺/IL-5R pluripoten stem cells [150]. It also has been shown that the differentiation process can occurs at the tissue level in response to antigen challenge [150]. The commitment of multipotent cells to the eosinophil lineage is regulated principally by IL-3, IL-5 and GM-CSF [151], and possibly also eotaxin [152]. Of these cytokines, interleukin-5 (also known as eosinophil-differentiation factor) is the most specific for the eosinophil lineage and

is accountable for selective differentiation of eosinophils [149]. Interleukin-5 also stimulates the release of eosinophils from bone marrow into the peripheral circulation [153].The mature eosinophils enter the blood stream, where they remain for about 25 hours before migrating into the tissue although this appears to be shorter in pathological conditions [154].

1.4.2. Eosinophil Priming

Recruitment of cells into tissue including the airways wall is associated with their priming and activation [155]. Eosinophils from patients with asthma exhibit increased migratory responses [156, 157], adhesiveness [158, 159] and degranulation [160] compared with eosinophils from normal subjects. The priming process is dependent on cytokines such as IL-5 [161], GM-CSF and IL-3 [162, 163]. Chemokines such as RANTES [164] and eotaxin [165] also act on eosinophils to enhance markedly their recruitment . One mechanism underlying this change in responsiveness may be the induction of receptors on the cell surface [166].

1.4.3. Rolling

The initial reversible contact (rolling) of circulating eosinophils with the blood vessel wall prior to extravasation is mediated by selectins. The expression of E-and P selectins on the endothelial cells can be up-regulated by IL-1 and TNF- α , while L-selectin is constantly expressed on eosinophils [102, 167]. The reversible adhesion between the selectins and their ligands makes the eosinophils move slowly along the vascular endothelial wall. During rolling the eosinophils become activated and the expression of integrins is upregulated, resulting in firm adhesion [102, 168]. The

molecules that are most important for firm adhesion of eosinophils to endothelial cells are CD11b/CD18 and VLA-4 on the eosinophils, and their ligands ICAM-1 and VCAM-1 on the endothelial cells. Expression of these adhesion molecules is stimulated by cytokines. For example, IL-1 and TNF- α induce ICAM-1 and VCAM-1 expression on endothelial cells. On the other hand IL-4 is a selective inducer of VCAM-1 while IFN- γ is a selective inducer of ICAM-1 [169].

1.4.4. Eosinophil Diapedesis and Chemotaxis

Eosinophils from the blood of normal individuals can adhere to IL-1- or TNF- α activated endothelial cells, but they are unable to migrate through this layer. In contrast, eosinophils from allergic or asthmatic individuals not only adhere to the endothelial cells, but also pass spontaneously through the cell layer. This capacity to transmigrate can be induced by pretreatment of eosinophils from normal individuals with IL-3, IL-5 or GM-CSF [170]. PAF and C5a are also involved in the transmigration of eosinophils across endothelial cells [171, 172]. Thus, priming of the eosinophils is a prerequisite for diapedesis. The expression of VCAM-1 and ICAM-1 on the endothelial cell is also necessary for eosinophil transmigration. After getting out of the blood vessels, eosinophils move into the targeted tissue in a process referred to as chemotaxis.

Chemotaxis is the movement of a cell in the direction of a chemoattractant gradient, and is characterized by adhesion/de-adhesion to extracellular matrix proteins. In response to a chemoattractant, the concentration of $Ca2^+$ in eosinophils rises and the cell undergoes polarization. A flat extension of the cytoplasm, called a lamellipod, is formed at the front of the moving cell, and a tail called an uropod is formed at the rear [158, 171]. The eosinophil moves by extending the lamellipod that

adheres to the substrate, and constricting the uropod while de-adhering from the substrate [158]. On the other hand, actin polymerisation and depolymerization supply the eosinophil with contractile forces. These forces are probably induced by phosphorylated myosin II interacting with actin filaments [173].

At the time this study was initiated, several factors were known to have chemotactic effect on eosinophils including PAF, complement factor C5a and 5-oxo-ETE [174]. All of these mediators, however, also act on neutrophils. On the other hand, IL-3, IL-5 and GM-CSF had been recognized as activators of eosinophil function, including migration [175]. Chemokines such as RANTES and eotaxin had also been found to be eosinophil chemoattractants [176]. More recently attention has been given to the role of PD2 as a chemotactic agent for eosinophils. The chemotactic effect of PGD₂ on eosinophils was first reported in dogs in a study by Emery et al. in 1988 [177]. This was followed recently in a study by Monneret et al. which showed that PGD₂ acting via the novel DP₂ receptor is a potent chemoattractant for human eosinophils in vitro [9]. The major goal of my thesis is determine whether PGD₂ can elicit eosinophil infiltration into the lungs and if so, to examine the nature of the receptors responsible for this effect.

1.5. Eicosanoids

Leukotrienes (LTs), and prostanoids belong to one family of lipid mediators known as eicosanoids [178]. These mediators play major roles in inflammation and have been implicated in the pathogenesis of many diseases, including asthma [179, 180]. Eicosanoids are formed mainly from arachidonic acid which is liberated from cell membrane phospholipids by phospholipases (PL) A₂ [181, 182]. Arachidonic acid is metabolized by two main pathways, namely the 5-lipoxygenase (5-LO) pathways,
which leads to the synthesis of leukotrienes and 5-oxo-ETE, and the cyclooxygenase pathway, which leads to the synthesis of PGs and thromboxanes [183].

1.5.1. 5-Lipoxygenase Pathways

5-LO converts AA into 5-HPETE [184], which is converted into a 5,6-epoxide, LTA₄, by the same enzyme [185]. LTA₄ is preferentially hydrolyzed to LTB₄ and LTC₄ by LTA₄ hydrolase and, LTC₄ synthase respectively. LTC₄ in turn is converted extracellularly to LTD_4 by transpeptidase and then to LTE_4 [186]. The effects of the cysteinyl leukotrienes (cys-LTs) are mediated via G protein-coupled receptors. In human lung distinct cys-LTs receptors appear to be present in bronchial smooth muscle and pulmonary veins [187]. The level of cys-LTs in BAL of asthmatics are elevated compared to non-asthmatics [188]. There is now substantial evidence that the cysteinyl leukotrienes (LTC₄, LTD₄, LTE₄) play an important role in the pathophysiology of asthma [180]. Cys-LTs are potent in eliciting bronchoconstriction [189], increased endothelial membrane permeability leading to airway oedema, enhanced secretion of mucus [190], and may also increase bronchial hyperresponsiveness [191]. Additionally, cys-LTs may induce remodelling because they increase proliferation of airway smooth muscle [192] and airway epithelial cells [193]. LTC₄ in particular was shown to upregulate collagenase expression in human lung fibroblasts [194]. cys-LTs may also be involved indirectly in eosinophils recruitment because inhalation of LTE_4 [195] or LTD_4 [196] induces the recruitment of eosinophils in the airways. Interestingly, the cys-LTs are produced by cells believed to contribute to the pathogenesis of asthma including eosinophils, mast cells, basophils, Th2 and macrophages [197]. This ability of eosinophils to produce cys-LTs further substantiates their important role in asthma. In addition to cys-LT, the newly

identified class of AA metabolites the 5-oxo-ETE is formed from 5S-HETE by specific dehydrogenase through the 5-LO pathway [198]. This compound acts through a specific G-protein–coupled receptor and has been shown to be a potent stimulator of human eosinophil migration both in vitro and inviov[199] [200].

1.5.2. Cyclooxygenases pathway

Metabolism of arachidonic acid by two forms of cyclooxygenase leads to the synthesis of prostanoids which consist of the prostaglandins (PGs) and the thromboxanes (TXs) [201]. The first step in this pathway is the conversion of AA to PGH₂ by the cyclooxygenase enzymes [202]. PGH₂ can then be converted by cell-specific prostaglandin synthases into a series of PGs, including PGD₂ [203]. The two forms of cyclooxygenases involved in this pathway are COX-1 and COX-2. COX-1 is constitutive and is responsible for the basal release of prostanoids, whereas COX-2 is inducible by inflammatory stimuli such as proinflammatory cytokines [204]. Both cyclooxygenase isozymes are expressed in most tissues [205], including human airway epithelial cells which basally express COX-1, whereas COX-2 is induced by IL-1 β and TNF- α [206, 207] and is enhanced by NO [207].

COX-1 in particular has been linked to a subgroup of asthmatics who have Aspirin-sensitive asthma. In this group of patients, aspirin and related drugs elicit asthma symptoms. It is thought this is due to inhibition of the formation of PGE₂ which has anti-inflammatory effects in asthma, and can suppress LTC₄ formation [208]. Clinical studies have demonstrated that selective inhibition of COX-2 ^{does} not induce airway narrowing in aspirin-sensitive asthmatics [208]. Indeed, it has been suggested that COX-2 may play a protective role in asthma, since COX-2 induction inhibits proliferation of human airway smooth muscle cells [208]. The major end products of the cyclooxygenases pathway, the PGs, signal a wide variety of events through several G protein-coupled receptors [209]. These receptors have been named according to the natural prostanoid for which they have the greatest affinity. They include TP, IP, FP, and DP₁/DP₂ receptors, and four subtypes of PGE receptors, named EP₁, EP₂, EP₃ and EP₄, which all activate second messengers, such as cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) [210, 211]. In the following section I will focus on PGD₂. A sketch representing the major products of both 5-LO and cyclogenase pathway is presented in Fig 2.

1.5.3. PGD₂

Prostaglandin D₂ (PGD₂) is a prostanoid derived from arachidonic acid via the action of COX-1 and COX-2 and specific PGD synthases [211]. Prostaglandin (PG) D synthase catalyzes the isomerization of the 9,11-endoperoxide group of PGH₂, to produce PGD₂ with 9-hydroxy and 11-keto groups, in the presence of sulfhydryl compounds [212]. There are two PGD₂ synthases, namely lipocalin-type PGD synthase (L-PGDS) [213] and hematopoietic PGDS (H-PGDS) [214]. L-PGDS is expressed by meningeal cells, epithelial cells of the choroid plexus, and oligodendrocytes in the brain and by epithelial cells of the epididymis and Leydig cells in the testis [215]. In contrast, H-PGDS is responsible for the biosynthesis of PGD₂ by immune and inflammatory cells such as mast cells [8], antigen-presenting cells [216], and Th2 cells [217]. PGD₂ biosynthesis has been demonstrated in various tissues including brain, spleen, lung, bone marrow, stomach, and skin [218]. The major pathway for metabolism and degradation of PGD₂ is shown in Fig. 3.

PGD₂ exerts its action through two plasma membrane G-protein coupled receptors, the DP₁ which is coupled to $G_{\alpha s}$ protein [219], and the recently identified DP₂

receptor also known as chemoattractant receptor-homologous molecule expressed on Th2 cells (CRTH₂) which is coupled to $G_{\alpha i}$ protein [9, 220]. At higher concentrations PGD₂, can activate other prostanoid receptors, notably the TP receptor, resulting in airway constriction [221]. PGD₂ has various effects in mammals such as promotion of sleep, nerve cell function, hormone release, inhibition platelets aggregation and vasodilatation [222, 223].

1.5.3.a. PGD₂ in Asthma

There is evidence that PGD₂ may be an important mediator in allergic asthma. H-PGDS is abundant in mast cells [8], dendritic cells [216], and certain subpopulations of Th2 lymphocytes [217], all of which play critical roles in this asthma [1]. Furthermore, PGD₂ is rapidly released in large amounts from major cells following allergen challenge of asthmatic subjects [7].

A number of studies have been done to examine the role of PGD2 in asthma, and the results suggest that this compound may be an important proinfilmatory mediator in this disease. It has been known for some time that PGD₂ induces bronchoconstriction [224]. However, relatively high doses are required for this response which appears to be mediated by the interaction of PGD₂ with TP receptors as it is blocked by selective TP antagonists [225, 226].



Figure 2. Generation of eicosanoids in the arachidonic acid cascade. Through the actions of the COX and 5-LO enzymes eicosanoids are formed .



Figure. 3. The major pathway for metabolism and degradation of PGD_2 .

IV administration of PGD₂ in guinea pigs also provokes airway wall thickening by inducing edema and enhancing bronchial smooth muscle constriction in response to histamine. This effect effect was also inhibited by TXA₂ antagonists [227]. The important role of PGD₂ in asthma was further supported by Fujitani et al. [228], who generated transgenic mice overexpressing the lipocalin-like PGD synthase in the lung, and subjected them to OVA-induced pulmonary allergic inflammation. They found increased IL-4 and IL-5 concentrations and enhanced eosinophilic numbers in BAL fluid in these mice.

Whereas the above studies suggest an important role of PGD_2 in the pathogenesis of asthma, there is a report suggesting that PGD_2 works to suppress mast cell activation. Chan et al.[229] found PGD_2 agonists exerted inhibition of histamine release form rat mast cells and this effect may be mediated by the DP_1 receptor since it was shared by the selective DP_1 agonist BW245C. Consistent with these findings, PGD_2 was demonstrated to have anti-inflammatory properties in rat pleurisy and colitis models possibly via PPAR γ and/or the DP1 receptor [230] and [231].

As discussed above, eosinophilic infiltration is a characteristics feature of asthma. A handful studies have been conducted to investigate the possible role of PGD₂ on eosinophil infiltration. One of the earliest is a study by Emery et al. who showed that application of PGD₂ to the surface of dog trachea, using an endotracheal tube with two inflatable balloons, induced accumulation of eosinophils in the lumen [177]. Another group demonstrated that intravenous infusion of PGD₂ causes a rapid reduction in circulating eosinophils in dogs, presumably by promoting their adherence or migration through the endothelium [232].

Other animal models further highlighted a proinflamatory role for PGD₂. In the guinea pig, topical application of PGD₂ induced eosinophil infiltration into the conjunctiva. It seemed unlikely that this was mediated by the DP₁ receptor, since it was not shared by the DP₁ agonist BW245C [233]. An in vitro study by Monneret et al. recently showed that PGD₂ is a potent chemoattractant for human eosinophils. This effect was not mediated by the DP₁ receptor, as it was not shared by the selective DP₁ receptor agonist BW245C and was not prevented by the selective DP₁ receptor agonist BW245C and was not prevented by the selective DP₁ receptor antagonist BWA868C [9]. Another study by Gervais et al., demonstrated the ability of PGD2 to induce a rapid change in human eosinophil morphology and increase eosinophil chemokinesis [11]. These results all support a role for inducing tissue eosinophilia.

Beside its effect on eosinophil migration, PGD₂ also induces a variety of other responses in eosinophils. Raible et al., first showed that PGD₂ increases cytosolic calcium in eosinophils and enhances the release of LTC_4 [234]. Then Monneret et al., showed that PGD₂ is a potent stimulator of actin polymerization and CD11b expression in these cells [9]. It was also demonstrated that PGD₂ induces eosinophil degranulation and that this effect was most likely to be mediated by the DP₂ receptor since it was reproduced by the selective DP₂ agonist dhk-PGD₂ but not by the selective DP₁ agonist BW245C [11].

1.5.4. DP_1 Receptor

PGD₂ elicits its biological actions mainly through interaction with the DP₁ and DP₂ receptors. The DP₁ is localized in the plasma membrane and is a member of the G-protein coupled receptor family. It coupled to $G_{\alpha s}$ and acts by activating adenylcyclase [219]. This receptor shares the highest sequence homology with the other prostanoid

receptors, TP, FP, EP₁₋₄ and IP [220]. The DP₁ receptor has been cloned thus far from mouse [235], human [221] and rat [236]. The identity of the amino acid sequence is 90% between the mouse and the rat receptors, 73% between the mouse and human receptors, and 70% between the rat and human receptors [237]. In mice, the DP₁ receptor is expressed moderately in the ileum and weakly in the lung, stomach, and uterus [235]. Consistently, only low levels of expression were detected in humans [221]. In relation to our current study, Monneret et al. were able to show for the first time that it is also present on human eosinophils [9]. In addition, immunoelectron microscopy using an antibody to mouse DP revealed that the DP receptor is highly expressed in ciliated and non-ciliated epithelial cells of the bronchioles and type II alveolar epithelial cells. Moderate expression was also observed in the type-I alveolar epithelial cells and inflammatory white blood cells [10]. More recently, Nantel et al., showed that the DP₁ receptor is present in the nasal mucosa and detected the DP₁ receptor mRNA in epithelial goblet cells, serous glands and in the vasculature[238].

Several selective DP₁ agonists and antagonists have been developed. Agonists include BW245C [239], and L-644,698 [240] whereas BWA868C [239] and S-5751 [241] are DP₁ antagonists. Although, the mouse DP₁ receptor showed different affinities for PGD₂, BWA868C and BW245C in the order of PGD₂ > BWA868C, BW245C [211], the cloned human DP₁ receptor showed almost equal ligand binding affinities for these compounds [221]. Through the activation of the DP₁ receptor, PGD₂ has been implicated in different physiological events including sleep induction, mucus production, cell survival, control of intraocular pressure and allergic responses [10, 11, 236, 242, 243].

1.5.4.a. Role of DP₁ receptor in inflammation

The DP₁ receptor have been thought to have inhibitory or relaxant effects on many cell types [211] and [220]. This is typically shown by the inhibitory effect of PGD₂ on platelet activation and its vasodilatory effects. With regard to leukocytes, signals from the DP₁ receptor have inhibitory effects on the migration of DP-transfected Jurkat cells, eosinophils, and dendritic cells [220], [9] and [230]. DP₁ signals also inhibit fibroblast migration [244]. Consistent with these findings, PGD₂ was demonstrated to have anti-inflammatory properties in colitis models possibly via the DP₁ receptor, since this anti-inflammatory effect was shared by the agonist BW245C [245]. Moreover, there is a report suggesting that DP₁ might be involved in suppression of mast cell activation. Chan et al. [229] found that the DP₁ agonist BW245C exerted strong inhibition of histamine release from rat mast cells.

In contrast to these inhibitory effects, it was reported that signals from the DP₁ receptor prolong the survival of eosinophils and induce mucin secretion in a colonic adenocarcinoma cell line [11] and [246]. Moreover, in mice, DP₁ deficiency was associated with a significant reduction of allergic inflammation in an animal model of asthma. Matsuoka et al. [10] examined DP receptor-deficient mice in a model of ovalbumin (OVA)-induced allergic inflammation. The loss of the DP₁ receptor caused a significant reduction of Th2 cytokines, including IL-4, IL-5 and IL-13. Lymphocyte and eosinophil accumulation in BAL fluid was also significantly reduced in the knockout mice. In contrast to wild-type mice, few mucus-containing cells were detected in the airways of DP-deficient mice. Moreover, whereas OVA challenge significantly increased airway sensitivity to acetylcholine in wild-type mice, little

increase was detected in DP-deficient animals. Thus, PGD_2 appears to act on the DP₁ receptor to plays an important role in elicitation of certain key features of allergic asthma. This presumption was confirmed by other experiments. Firstly, Arimura et al. [241] administered the DP₁ antagonist S-5751 orally to guinea pigs subjected to the same model of OVA-induced allergic asthma, and found that it significantly reduced eosinophil infiltration into the lung. Secondly, although only moderate expression of DP₁ was detected in the lungs of non-immunized mice, OVA challenge to the airway markedly enhanced the expression of this receptor [10].

1.5.5. DP₂/CRHT2 Receptor

For some time, it was generally considered that most of the biological actions of PGD₂ are mediated through the classical DP receptor [211]. However, in 2001, two independent studies identified a second receptor for PGD₂. First Hirai et al. identified CRTH₂ as a novel PGD₂ receptor [220]. In the same year, Monneret et al., using a pharmacological approach identified a second PGD₂ receptor on eosinophils, and named it the DP₂ receptor to distinguish it from classical DP₁ receptor [9]. CRTH₂ and the DP₂ receptor are identical to one another.

The DP₂ receptor is a seven-transmembrane G protein–coupled receptor structurally related to members of the *N*-formyl peptide receptor (FPR) family [247]. DP₂ has no significant homology in amino acid sequence with the DP₁ receptor or any of the other known prostanoid receptors [211]. Interestingly, the highest amino acid sequence identity for the DP₂ receptor is found within members of the leukocyte chemoattractant receptor subfamily [248].The relationship among eicosanoid receptors in term of their amino acid sequences is shown in fig.4 . Apart from PGD₂ this receptor does not display high affinity binding to other eicsanoids, chemokines, or

chemoattractants [247]. Expression studies in mice [249], rats [250], and humans [251] revealed DP₂ receptor expression in many tissues including lung, thymus, liver, spleen and brain. This wide tissue distribution, may be due to its localization in leukocytes, as it has been shown to be largely expressed by Th2 cells [252]. This receptor is expressed in Th2 cells [247], basophils [202] and eosinophils [11]. Genetic studies shows that the overall identity between the human and rat DP₂ sequences is 75.6%, whereas it is 89.1% between the mouse and rat sequences [250]. It has also been shown that the mouse homologue is similar to human DP₂ with regard to ligand specificity, signalling pathways, and biological functions [253]. One major difference between the DP₂ and DP₁ receptors is the binding of DP₂ to $G_{\alpha i}$ as opposed to $G_{\alpha s}$ that used by DP₁ [250].

Several selective DP₂ receptor agonists have been identified including 15R-methyl PGD₂, 13, 14-dihydro-15-keto PGD₂ and 15-deoxy- $^{\Delta 12,14}$ -PGD₂ [11]. At present, no DP₂-selective antagonist is available except for the anti-DP₂ monoclonal antibody BM7 [220]. Although, Ramatroban was first reported as a selective TP receptor antagonist, it was subsequently shown to also act as an antagonist for the DP₂ receptors [254].

As selective DP₂ ligands have only recently been identified, little is known about the physiological role of this receptor. However, activation of this receptor in leukocytes induces a variety of responses. For instance, in Th2 cells activation of the DP₂ receptor induces chemotaxis and/or chemokinesis and up-regulation of CD40 ligand [220]. In eosinophils activation of this receptor induces chemotaxis [11], eosinophil degranulation [11], up-regulation of CD11b expression [9], actin polymerization, L-selectin shedding, cell shape change, and mediator release [9] [11].



Figure 4. The relationship among eicosanoid receptors in terms of their amino acid sequence. Modified from Brink et al, Pharmacol Rev, 2004.

Similar effects were observed using transfected cell lines. It has been shown that DP_2 transfected Jurkat cells can migrate along a gradient of PGD₂, whereas DP_1 transfected Jurkat cells cannot [220]. It has been suggested that DP_1 and DP_2 cooperatively contribute to the development of allergic inflammation [220] [11].

1.5.6. 15d- $\Delta^{12,14}$ -PGJ₂ And Its receptors

One of the compounds that were tested in the current study is $15d-\Delta^{12,14}$ -PGJ₂ (15d-PGJ₂) 15-d-PGJ₂ belongs to the J series of prostaglandins and is a degradation product of PGD₂ [203]. PGD₂ was shown to be dehydrated to PGJ₂ in aqueous solution [255] and is converted to 15deoxy- $\Delta^{12,14}$ -PGD₂ (15d-PGD₂), Δ^{12} -PGJ₂, and 15-d-PGJ₂ in the presence of serum albumin [256] [257].

15d-PGJ₂ has been shown to have anti-inflammatory effects mediated by its stimulatory effect on peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor Υ (PPAR Υ) [258]. However, more recent evidence has shown that there are also effects of 15d-PGJ₂ that are independent of PPAR Υ activation [259-261] . For instance, Vaidya and colleagues have shown that 15d-PGJ₂ can inhibit the production of oxygen free radicals by neutrophils in a PPAR Υ -independent manner [260]. Moreover, 15d-PGJ₂ induces apoptosis via a novel mechanism involving reactive oxygen species that is unrelated to activation of PPAR Υ in hepatic myofibroblasts [262]. Some of these effects may be mediated by inhibition of NF- κ B. NF- κ B is a transcription factor that exists in virtually all cell types in the cytoplasm in an inactive form because of its binding to I κ B. The activation of NF- κ B from I κ B and its subsequent translocation to the nucleus where it can upregulate transcription of specific proinflammatory genes [263] 15d-PGJ₂ has been shown to form covalent conjugates with I κ B kinase and a subunit of NF- κ B, as well as a number of other proteins, resulting in loss of their function. This is due to its reactive cyclopentenone structure, which readily reacts with protein thiol group (fig5). A recent study by Monneret et al. showed that 15d-PGJ₂ is DP₂ receptor agonist and can there by activate human eosinophils in vitro [264]. This proinflammatory effect is observed at low nanomolar concentrations in contrast to the µmolar concentrations required for its anti-inflammatory effects. One of the goals of the current study was to determine whether 15d-PGJ₂ can exert proinflammatory effects in vivo by inducing pulmonary eosinophilia.



Figure 5. Structures of PGD_2 and selective DP_2 receptor agonists. Because of its reactive cyclopentenone structure $15d-PGJ_2$ reacts with protein thiol groups to give conjugates at carbon-9.

1.5.6.a. PPARy Receptor

The peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors (PPARs) are members of the nuclear hormone receptor superfamily of ligand-activated transcription factors [265]. PPARs promote the transcription of target genes by forming heterodimers with retinoid X receptors (RXR) and binding to specific motifs in the promoter regions of target genes termed PPAR-responsive elements (PPRE) [266]. Three receptor subtypes of PPARs, designated PPARα, PPAR¥, and PPAR& have been identified [267]. Moreover, three mRNA isoforms of PPAR¥ have been detected in humans (termed PPAR¥₁, PPAR¥₂, and PPAR¥₃) [268] [269]. PPAR¥₁ and PPAR¥₃ mRNAs code for the same protein, while PPAR¥₂ codes for a different protein containing 28 additional amino acids at the N-terminus [270].

PPAR^γ has been cloned from a number of species, including mice [271], hamsters [272], pigs [273] rhesus monkeys [274], and humans [275]. Interestingly, the PPAR^γ protein shows a significant conservation across all the species from which it has been cloned [275] [276]. It is expressed in adipocytes, spleen, colon, bladder, smooth and skeletal muscle, bone marrow and intestine [266] [277]. High levels of expression of PPAR^γ were demonstrated in many cancer cell types [278] [279].

More recently, the receptor has been found in many immune cells, including neutrophils, macrophages, and B cells [280]. In mice, it has been shown that immature as well as mature spleen-derived DCs express PPAR¥ [281]. On the other hand, Sugiyama et al., found that human cultured mast cells (HCMC) express PPAR¥₂ weakly but increase its expression when activated with anti-IgE or with calcium ionophore plus phorbol ester [282]. In relation to our current study, Ueki et al demonstrated that human purified eosinophils express PPAR¥ [76]. PPAR¥ is also expressed in human airway epithelial cells [283]. An interesting feature of PPAR γ expression is its sensitivity to the microenvironment. It has been shown that slight alterations in culture conditions can significantly effect whether PPAR γ is expressed or not [266]. Several studies have identified a number of agents that regulate PPAR γ expression including TNF α [284], GM-CSF, M-CSF, and IL-4 [285].

A number of potential PPAR γ endogenous ligands have been identified including linolenic acid, arachidonic acid [286], 13-hydroxyoctadecadienoic acid (13-HODE) [287] and 15d-PGJ₂ [288], all of which bind to PPAR γ at micromolar concentrations. PPAR γ is also activated by a series of synthetic compounds such as thiazolidinediones [289], L-tyrosine-based compounds [290], and some nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory agents [291].

1.5.6.b. 15d- $\Delta^{12,14}$ -PGJ₂ and PPARy in Inflammation

A number of reports have proposed an anti-inflammatory role for $15d-PGJ_2 PPAR\gamma$. For example, $15d-PGJ_2$ inhibits the production of iNOS, TNF- α and IL-1 β by mouse and human macrophages by a mechanism involving the inhibition of mitogenactivated protein (MAP) kinases, NF- κ B or I κ B kinase [261, 292]. Several studies provide further evidence for a potential role for $15d-PGJ_2$ as an anti-inflammatory agent. It was shown that $15d-PGJ_2$ could inhibit the expression of genes coding for IL-1 β , TNF- α , cyclooxygenase-2, and NO synthase-2 in Monocytes/macrophages [293, 294]. It has also been shown that $15d-PGJ_2$ inhibit the release of the proinflammatory cytokines IL-8 in IL-4 from airway epithelial cells [283]. Furthermore, the PPARY agonists $15d-PGJ_2$, and troglitazone, attenuated the production of GM-CSF by anti-IgE-stimulated HCMC [282]. 15d-PGJ₂ also has been implicated in cell apoptosis in both inflammatory and tumour cells. It has been shown that 15d-PGJ₂ can induce the apoptosis of mouse T and B cells [295, 296]. It has also been shown that 15d-PGJ₂ can induce eosinophil apoptosis via PPARγ-independent inhibition of NF-κB activation [297]. Additionally, Chinett et al. demonstrated that ligand activation of PPARγ results in apoptosis induction in macrophages and that PPARγ inhibits the transcriptional activity of the NF-κB p65/RelA subunit. This findings suggest that PPARγ induces macrophage apoptosis by negatively interfering with the anti-apoptotic NF-κB signaling pathway [298]. It has been also shown that 15d-PGJ₂ induces endothelial cell apoptosis via a PPARγ dependent pathway [299]. Furthermore, the PPARγ ligand Troglitazone has been shown to inhibit vascular smooth muscle cell proliferation [300]. Moreover, there are reports of the PPARγ-mediated inhibition of tumor-cell growth both *in vitro* and *in vivo* by 15d-PGJ₂ in a variety of tissues, including breast, prostate, colon, lung, bladder and oesophagus [301, 302]. Other PPAR7 agonists also inhibit carcinogenesis [303].

On the other hand, not all studies support an anti-inflammatory role for $15d-PGJ_2$ and the PPAR γ receptor. A study by Thieringer et al. have failed to observe an inhibitory effect of $15d-PGJ_2$ on induced expression of TNF- α and IL-6 in freshly prepared human macrophages [304]. Additionally, there is some evidence that 15d-PGJ₂ can promote inflammation. 15d-PGJ₂ has been reported to induce expression cyclooxygenase2 in epithelial cells [305]. It also can stimulate the production of proinflammatory mediators, such as IL-8 and activate MAP kinases, in some systems [306-308]. Interestingly, it has been found that 15d-PGJ₂ is a potent activator of eosinophils by its interaction with the DP₂ receptor [264]. As the above-mentioned

data indicates both anti- and- proinflamatory roles for this compound, a caution needs to be exercised before reaching a general conclusion in this regard.

CHAPTER 2

MATERIALS AND METHODS

2. MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1. Eicosanoids and reagents

5-Oxo-6,8,11,14-eicosatetraenoic acid (5-oxo-ETE) was synthesized chemically in the laboratory of Joshua Rokach, Florida Institute of Technology. All other eicosanoids as well as BW245C were purchased from Cayman Chemical Co, Ann Arbor, MI. Monoclonal antibody for eosinophil-derived MBP was provided by Dr R. Moqbel (University of Alberta, Edmonton, Canada). Rabbit antimouse immunoglobulin (Ig), and Mouse APAAP, were purchased from Dykocytomation.

2.2 Animals and in vivo procedures

The animals used in this study were 8 to 10 weeks old male Brown Norway rats (175-215 gm; RijHsd substrain), which were purchased from Harlan, Indianapolis, IN. All experimental procedures were approved by an institutional animal care committee and carried out in accordance with McGill University's policy on Handling and Treatment of Laboratory animals and the Canadian Council on Animals Care guidelines. The rats were housed in groups of three with food and water provided *ad libitum*. They were allowed to become acclimatized to laboratory conditions for 4 to 6 days prior to experimentation. Prior to treatment with eicosanoids, the animals were anaesthetized by intraperitonial injection of xylazine (7 mg/kg IP) and pentobarbital (50 mg/kg IP). Different amounts of test compounds in 100-µl vehicle (saline containing 0.5% ethanol) were administered to the lung by intratracheal instillation while control animals received vehicle alone.

Briefly, the rat was positioned against an angled restraining stand. An elastic ring was used to hold the mouth open and to facilitate the instillation procedure. A directed light source was used to provide Illumination. A 6 cm long PE-90 polyethylene tube

was inserted trans-orally into the tracheal lumen, then inserted into the mouth and placed between the vocal cords and into the lumen of the trachea. We used two simple techniques to determine if the intubation device is in the respiratory tract, rather than the gastrointestinal tract. Firstly, we sensed the movement of the polyethylene tube as it moved over the cartilage rings of the trachea. Secondly, after inserting the polyethylene tube we placed a mirror in front of its free end and verified that the animal was breathing by observing the condensation of moisture on the shiny face of the mirror. After confirming the correct positioning, the tube was then connected to a 1 ml syringe containing the test compound followed by 0.6 ml of air to aid in the distribution of the injected compound throughout the lung.

2.3. Preparation of tissue sections

At various times after administration of eicosanoids, animals were sacrificed by intraperitonial injection of an overdose of pentobarbital (150 mg/kg IP). Following induction of anaesthesia, the abdominal cavity was opened and rats were bled via the abdominal aorta to drain as much blood as possible. The chest cavity then was carefully opened, and the trachea was exposed, and freed from surrounding fascia without cutting the trachea. Using a fine tipped scissors, a tiny "V" shaped cut in the top of the trachea was made. A 6 cm long PE-240 polyethylene tube was carefully inserted into the V shaped cut, and fixed in place using a surgical knot. The whole lung with the polyethylene tube attached to it was taken out and washed briefly in phosphate-buffered saline (PBS). The lung was then placed over a clean gauze moisture with PBS and a 5 ml syringe filled with 100% OCT was attached to the free end of the polyethylene tube. Then the lung was filled slowly with OCT (3.5ml) and the polyethylene tube was slowly pulled out and the trachea was quickly clamped with

a small artery forceps just below the tiny cut to keep the OCT in the lung. A section of the left lobe of the lungs around the hilum was removed and placed in an aluminium foil basket filled with OCT embedding medium. The section was then snap frozen in isopentane precooled in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80 °C. Sections (6 µm) were cut in a cryostat, air dried for 1 h, fixed in acetone/methanol (60:40) for 7 minutes and further air dried for 30 min. The slides were then wrapped in aluminium foil and stored at -20 °C.

2.4. Immunocytochemistry

To identify eosinophils in the lung sections, the slides were allowed to defrost and treated with a monoclonal antibody to MBP using the alkaline phosphatase-anti-alkaline phosphatase technique as previously described by Frew and Kay [309]. Briefly, tissue sections were incubated with Universal blocking solution for 15 min. Excess blocker was drained, and the slides were incubated overnight at 4 °C with primary antibodies diluted in antibody diluting buffer (1:100) in a humidified chamber. The primary antibodies used here were mouse anti-human monoclonal antibody to MBP. Slides then were washed twice with Tris-buffered saline (TBS) for 5 min, followed by treatment with diluted rabbit antimouse immunoglobulin (1:60) as a secondary antibody at room temperature for 30 min. They were then washed with TBS for 5 min, and incubated with mouse APAAP diluted in antibody diluting buffer (1:60) for 30 min at room temperature. Again, slides were washed with TBS, and the reaction was developed and visualized with fast red dissolved in alkaline phosphatase substrate. The sections were counterstained with Gill II hematoxyline for 2 min, washed with water, placed in lithium carbonate and then a thin layer of Crystal Mount was placed over the tissue and the slides were left to dry in the oven at 37 °C overnight. The next day slides were mounted

under glass coverslip using Permount mounting medium. When dried the slides were coded and read in a blind fashion by two independent observers at a magnification of 200x. Eosinophils were observed in clusters around both large and small airways. For each slide, positive cells were counted in at least four non-overlapping eosinophil-containing areas (1 mm²) around the airways using a squared eyepiece graticule. For each slide, the numbers of cells in the four regions with the highest numbers of cells were averaged.

2.5. Data analysis

Mean values of the cell counts determined for each slide by the two independent observers were used for all further analyses. All values are expressed as means \pm SE of the numbers of immunoreactive cells per mm². The statistical significance of differences among groups were assessed using either one-way or two-way ANOVA as appropriate, with the Student-Newman-Keuls test as a multiple comparison method. Differences with a P value of less than 0.05 were considered to be statistically significant.

CHAPTER 3

EXPERIMENTAL RESULTS

3. **RESULTS**

3.1. PGD₂ elicits pulmonary infiltration of eosinophils

Monneret et al [9], demonstrated that Prostaglandin D_2 is a potent chemoattractant for human eosinophils in vitro. To test this effect in vivo, Brown Norway rats were treated with either saline vehicle or PGD₂ (5 µg), which were administered by tracheal instillation. Twenty-four hours later the rats were sacrificed, the lungs removed, and sections were taken for immunostaining for MBP using a mouse anti-human antibody that cross-reacts with rat MBP. PGD₂ induced a dramatic increase in the number of eosinophils in the lung (Fig. 6B) compared to vehicle-treated controls (Fig. 6A). The MBP positive cells were found principally around the airways. However, there were also some eosinophils around blood vessels and within the parenchyma (Fig. 7). No staining was observed in controls in which the antibody was omitted (data not shown). The response to PGD₂ was highly reproducible (P < 0.001), and was only slightly less than that to the potent eosinophil chemoattractant 5-oxo-ETE, which we used as a positive control data shown (Fig. 8).

3.2. Pulmonary eosinophilia is induced by DP₂ but not by DP₁ receptor agonists

As PGD₂ activates both DP₁ and DP₂ receptors, we wished to determine which of these receptors is responsible for the effect of this prostaglandin on eosinophil infiltration. To address this issue we compared its effects to those of BW245C which is a potent DP₁ receptor agonist with a potency similar to PGD₂ and has no activities on the DP₂ receptors [9]. We also examined the effect of the selective DP₂ receptor agonists dhk-PGD₂ and 15R-methyl-PGD₂. The effect of 15d-PGJ₂ were also investigated because it is a potent DP_2 receptor agonist and we wanted to determine whether its DP2 mediated effects would predominate over its reported antiinflammatory effects as discussed in section 1.5.6.b. Figure 8. shows the effect of PGD_2 and other eicosanoids (5µg) on the number of eosinophils in the lung 24h after treatment. Treatment with PGD₂ results in an increase in eosinophil numbers of over 3-fold after 24h (P< 0.001) compared to vehicle. The response to PGD₂ was also slightly less than that of the potent eosinophil chemoattractant 5-oxo-ETE. Unlike PGD₂, BW245C had no effect on the numbers of eosinophils present in the lung. In contrast, all of the selective DP₂ receptor agonists tested induced eosinophil infiltration. 15R-Methyl-PGD₂ was found to be a potent stimulator of eosinophil migration in vitro [310]. This also was the case in the current study where this compound was found to be more potent than PGD₂ in inducing tissue eosinophilia (Fig. 6C; P < 0.001). Despite the reported studies that suggest an anti-inflammatory role for 15d-PGJ₂, it has been demonstrated that this compound is a potent activator of human eosinophils [264]. We showed here that $15d-PGJ_2$ is a potent stimulator of eosinophil migration in vivo (Fig.6 1D; P < 0.001). Meanwhile dhk-PGD₂ induced eosinophil infiltration but was less potent than other DP_2 tested agonists (P < 0.05).

3.3. Time course for the effects of DP₂ receptor agonists on eosinophil infiltration

To investigate the time courses for the effects of DP₂ receptor agonists on eosinophil infiltration, sections were taken from lungs immediately following vehicle injection and 4, 12, 24, and 48 h after intratracheal instillation of PGD₂, 15R-methyl-PGD₂, and 15d-PGJ₂ (Fig. 9). As it has been previously shown in our lab that lung eosinophil numbers were constant during this time period following instillation of vehicle alone [200], we did not evaluate responses to vehicle at all of the time points tested. However, the numbers of eosinophils in lungs immediately following vehicle injection $(4.0 \pm 0.7 \text{ eosinophils/mm}^2)$ were the same as the numbers 24 h after injection of vehicle $(4.1 \pm 0.6 \text{ eosinophils/mm}^2)$. Although none of the substances tested altered eosinophil numbers by 4 h, PGD₂ (P < 0.05) and the two selective DP₂ receptor agonists (P < 0.005) significantly increased their numbers by 12 h. The maximal response to 15R-methyl-PGD₂ was observed after 24 h. Although PGD₂ and 15d-PGJ₂ elicited near maximal responses by this time, the responses to these agonists continued to rise up to 48h.

3.4. Dose-response relationship for PGD₂, 15d-PGJ₂, and 15R-methyl-PGD₂

To further investigate the effects of PGD₂ and DP₂ receptor agonists on eosinophil recruitment into the rat lung their dose-response relationships were investigated and compared (Fig10). Rats were insufflated intratracheally with various amounts of PGD₂, 15d-PGJ₂, and 15R-methyl-PGD₂. After 24h, the lungs were removed and the numbers of eosinophils counted in lung sections after immunostaining for MBP. Of the three compounds tested, 15R-methyl-PGD₂ was the most potent (P < 0.005) with an ED₅₀ of about 0.6 μ g. PGD₂, which had an ED₅₀ of about 1.5 μ g induced a smaller response at all doses tested. 15d-PGJ₂ appeared to have potency similar to that of PGD₂, although the responses to lower doses of this compounds were somewhat variable. Interestingly, diminished responses to all three compounds were observed at the highest dose tested (10 μ g). At this dose, none of the PGD₂ analogs had a significant effect on eosinophil numbers in the lungs.



Fig. 6. Representative slides of the effects of PGD_2 and selective DP_2 receptor agonists on lung eosinophil numbers. Brown Norway rats were treated by intratracheal administration of either vehicle (A), PGD_2 (5 µg; B), 15R-methyl-PGD₂ (5 µg; C), or 15d-PGJ₂ (5 µg, D). Tissue sections were removed after 24 h and treated with an antibody to MBP, which stains eosinophils red.



Figure 7. Representative slides of the presence of eosinophils around the blood vessels A and B and within the parenchyma C and D. These slides were taken from animals treated with PGD_2 (5 µg) and tissue sections were removed after 24 h.



Figure 8. Effects of PGD₂ and selective PGD₂ receptor agonists on lung eosinophil numbers.Brown Norway rats were treated with either vehicle or 5 μ g of 5-oxo-ETE (5-oETE), PGD₂, BW245C (BW), 15d-PGJ₂ (15dJ₂), dhk-PGD₂ (dhkD₂), or 15R-methyl-PGD₂ (15MeD₂). Lung sections were taken 24 h later and stained for MBP as shown in Fig. 1. ***, P < 0.001; *, P < 0.05 when compared to the vehicle-treated control. Except for vehicle (n = 9) and PGD₂ (n = 10), there were 5 rats in each group.



Figure 9. Time courses for the effects of PGD₂ and selective DP₂ receptor agonists on lung eosinophils. Brown Norway rats were treated with 5 μ g PGD₂ (\Box), 15d-PGJ₂ (Δ ; 15dJ₂), or 15Rmethyl-PGD₂ (\circ ; 15MeD₂). Lung sections were taken either immediately following treatment with vehicle or after different periods of time. ***, P < 0.001; **, P < 0.01; *, P < 0.05 when compared to combined data from controls treated with vehicle for 0 and 24 h. n = 4 except for vehicle (n = 3), PGD₂ (4 h, n = 5; 24 h, n = 10), 15R-methyl-PGD₂ (24 h, n = 5), and 15d-PGJ₂ (24 h, n = 5).



Figure 10. Dose-response relationship for the effects of PGD₂ and related compounds on lung eosinophils. Brown Norway rats were treated with vehicle or different doses of PGD₂ (•), 15d-PGJ₂ (Δ ; 15dJ₂), or 15R-methyl-PGD₂ (\circ ; 15MeD₂). Lung sections were taken after 24 h later and immunostained for MBP. ***, P < 0.001; **, P < 0.01 when compared to vehicle treated controls. n = 5 except vehicle (n = 9), PGD₂ (2.5 µg, n = 3; 5 µg, n = 10; 10 µg, n = 3), 15R-methyl-PGD₂ (2.5 µg, n = 2; 10 µg, n = 3), and 15d-PGJ₂ (2.5 µg, n = 3; 10 µg, n = 4). All values are means ± SE except when n was equal to 2 in which case the value is the means ± range.

CHAPTER 4

DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION

4.1. **DISCUSSION**

The central role of eosinophils in the pathogenesis of asthma is long known [126]. Activated eosinophils play an important role in asthma through their capacity to release toxic proteins, oxygen radicals and lipid mediators as well as an array of proinflammatory cytokines [311]. However, in 2000, Leckie and his group concluded that eosinophils do not have a significant role in the development of asthma in humans after a humanized monoclonal antibody against IL-5, effectively depleted eosinophils from blood and sputum in mild atopic subjects with asthma, but had no effect on airway hyperresponsiveness [312]. Nevertheless, these results may be viewed as the inability of anti-IL-5 to abolish bronchial mucosal eosinophils to a degree sufficient to reduce the symptoms of asthma. A similar study by Flood-Page et al., using the same monoclonal antibody against IL-5 on human subjects with mild asthma, showed that this antibody only reduced airway tissue and bone marrow eosinophils by 50% [313]. Interestingly, very recently Lee and his group created a transgenic line of mice that are specifically devoid of eosinophils, and demonstrated that these cells were required for pulmonary mucus accumulation and airway hyperresponsiveness associated with asthma [314]. Interestingly, Humbles et al., used the same transgenic mice model and found that total ablation of the eosinophil has no effect on AHR when compared to wild-type mice. Meanwhile, they found that eosinophil ablation was protective from peribronchiolar collagen deposition and increases in airway smooth muscle [131]. Although this study used the same animal model that Lee et al. used, they obtained a different result, which further complicates our understanding of the relationship between eosinophils and AHR.

There are currently two types of drugs used to treat asthma. The first consists of bronchodilators that are aimed primarily at providing symptomatic improvement through the use of bronchodilators. These include both long- and short- acting inhaled β_2 -agonists, which are the most effective [315], followed by anticholinergics [316]. The second type of drug aims at suppression of airway inflammation and reduction of bronchial hyperresponsiveness [30]. Presently, the most effective anti-inflammatory drugs used in the treatment of asthma are glucocorticoids, which act primarily by inhibiting the late-phase reaction [317]. Leukotriene-modifying drugs are also used to reduce airway inflammation and have been shown to improve symptoms especially when used in combination with inhaled steroids [318].

However, there is reason for concern about currently used asthma therapy. There are concerns that long-term use of both long-acting and short-acting inhaled beta-agonists may cause a loss of asthma control in some patients [319]. On the other hand, steroids are rather non-specific in their actions, and their use also raises concerns over side effects. Furthermore, a minority of patients with asthma fail to respond to glucocorticoid therapy [117]. In addition, corticosteroid treatment has shown limited, if any, benefit in reducing airway remodelling [320]. Moreover, lung function in asthmatics declines more rapidly compared with that of normal individuals, indicating disease progression despite the use of currently available asthma therapy [321]. These concerns over the current asthma therapy have stimulated a search for alternative drug targets that are primarily involved in the inflammatory process in asthma. These new therapeutic approaches in asthma include, specific immunotherapy and cytokine, chemokine or adhesion molecule agonists/antagonists as well as monoclonal antibodies [30]. Other strategies include enhancing the effect of cytokines
that promote the antiallergic pathway (e.g. IFN- γ and IL-12) which favor the Th₁ response over the Th2 response [322, 323].

Although eosinophils have long been considered to be a major target in the therapeutic strategy for bronchial asthma there is not yet any available therapy that is selectively directed at these cells [312]. Eosinophils can be targeted by different strategies at different levels of the eosinophil life cycle (fig11). It is theoretically possible that therapeutic interventions could be directed at inhibiting eosinophilopoiesis. However, abolishing eosinophils completely might constitute a risk of infection to the host [324]. Another strategy is to prevent eosinophil recruitment. Eosinophil recruitment into sites of inflammation is a complex process involving interaction between eosinophils, endothelial cells and a wide array of mediators [148]. Theoretically, targeting the adhesion molecules can prevent eosinophil recruitment. However, this approach is potentially dangerous because all leukocytes express adhesion molecules and none is selectively expressed by eosinophils [324]. Another appealing strategy is to prevent eosinophil entry into the tissue by targeting the chemotactic factors.

At the time of the start of this study, several factors had been suggested as being chemotactic for eosinophils including PAF, complement factor C5a and LTB₄ [174]. All of these mediators, however, act on both eosinophils and neutrophils. A number of mediators belonging to the chemokine family, were shown to be effective eosinophil chemoattractants including RANTES, eotaxin 1, 2 and 3 and monocyte chemoattractant protein 2, 3 and 4 [325]. On the other hand, IL-3, IL-5 and GM-CSF had been recognized as activators of eosinophil function, including migration [175]. IL-2 had also been claimed to induce eosinophil migration [100]. Lipid mediators also appear to be important mediators of eosinophil migration.

 PGD_2 is released in large amounts during asthmatic attacks in humans [7]. The important role of PGD_2 in asthma was further confirmed by the finding that antigen sensitized transgenic mice over expressing the lipocalin-like PGD synthase in the lung displayed increased IL-4 and IL-5 levels and enhanced eosinophil numbers in BAL fluid following antigen challenge [228]. One possible role for PGD_2 is its involvement as a chemotactic agent for eosinophils in this disease. The importance of PGD_2 as an eosinophil chemoattractant is supported by a study by Emery et al. in dogs [177], and by the finding that PGD_2 is a potent chemotactic factor for human eosinophils [9]. The main goal of the current study was to determine whether PGD_2 could induce pulmonary eosinophilia in vivo.

This study demonstrates for the first time that intratracheal administration of PGD_2 induces pulmonary eosinophilia. This response was almost as intense as that induced by the potent eosinophil chemoattractant 5-oxo-ETE [199], which acts through the recently cloned OXE receptor [326, 327] and elicits a robust eosinophilic response in Brown Norway rat lungs following intratracheal administration [200]. The present results are consistent with an *in vivo* study in dogs demonstrating that superfusion of tracheal segments with PGD_2 induced the accumulation of eosinophils in the superfusion fluid [177].



Figure 11. Different levels at which eosinophils can be targeted to reduce their numbers in the body. Theoretically, different strategies can be used to prevent tissue eosinophilia including, targeting the eosinophilopoiesis process, targeting factors that help mobilizing eosinophils from bone marrow to the blood, targeting factors that prime eosinophils for migration, targeting the adhesion molecules or the factors that up regulate them, targeting the chemotactic factors that attract eosinophils to the tissue, and targeting the factors that activate and prolong the survival of eosinophils in the tissue The response to PGD₂ is clearly mediated by DP₂ rather than DP₁ receptors, as it was not shared by BW245C, which is a potent and highly selective DP₁ receptor agonist [328]. In contrast, all of the selective DP₂ agonists tested induced pulmonary eosinophilia with relative potencies similar to those predicted by their *in vitro* effects on human eosinophils. The most potent of these is 15R-methyl-PGD₂, which is the most potent DP₂ receptor agonist reported to date [310]. Interestingly, this compound has the unnatural R configuration at C₁₅, and is much more potent *in vitro* than the corresponding analog with the S configuration at C₁₅, which is common to all naturally occurring prostaglandins. The present study demonstrates that 15R-methyl-PGD₂ is active not only in vitro, but also in vivo, suggesting that it may be a very useful tool for examining DP₂ receptor-mediated responses in animal models.

15d-PGJ₂ was approximately equipotent with PGD₂ in inducing pulmonary eosinophilia, consistent with its potent stimulatory effects on human eosinophils in vitro [264]. This is quite interesting in view of the abundant reports in the literature on the anti-inflammatory effects of this compound [12]. 15d-PGJ₂ is formed by the albumin-catalyzed degradation of PGD₂ [257]. Although this clearly occurs in vitro, the presence of this substance in vivo in amounts compatible with its antiinflammatory effects remains controversial [12, 231, 329]. The anti-inflammatory effects of 15d-PGJ₂ appear to be mediated by activation of PPARγ or by covalent binding to components of the NF-κB system or other cellular proteins [330]. The reactivity of 15d-PGJ₂ is due to its cyclopentenone ring structure, which can form adducts with protein thiol groups as shown in Fig. 5. Although it can clearly induce a variety of responses by this mechanism, including suppression of the expression of cyclooxygenase-2, inducible nitric oxide synthase, and cytokines, the concentrations required are considerably higher than those needed for DP₂ receptor-mediated responses [264]. There are also a number of *in vivo* studies demonstrating antiinflammatory effects of this prostaglandin in various animal models, including carrageenan-induced pleurisy, in which case it was reported to inhibit the infiltration of both neutrophils [331] and mononuclear cells [231] in the early and late phases, respectively, of this response. The present study clearly demonstrates that 15d-PGJ₂ can also induce proinflammatory effects *in vivo* through activation of the DP₂ receptor, suggesting that caution should be used in the development of such compounds as therapeutic agents [231].

The third DP₂ agonist we tested was dhk-PGD₂, which was the first selective agonist reported for this receptor [9, 220]. Although this compound is often used in studies on the DP₂ receptor, it is less potent than PGD₂ *in vitro*, and the present study would suggest that this is also true *in vivo*, as it was considerably less active than the other was PGD₂ derivatives tested. It would therefore seem preferable to use 15R-methyl-PGD₂ as a selective DP₂ agonist in studies on this receptor.

The absence of a response to the selective DP₁ receptor agonist BW245C is interesting in view of the inhibitory effects of both deletion of the gene for the DP₁ receptor [10] and the selective DP₁ antagonist S-5751 [241] on pulmonary eosinophilia in animal models of asthma. The lack of *in vitro* chemotactic activity for human eosinophils of this compound [9] suggests that activation of the DP₁ receptor affects lungs eosinophil numbers by an indirect mechanism, possibly through effects on cytokine production, as DP₁^{-/-} mice display reduced Th2 cytokine levels following antigen challenge compared to wild type mice [10]. Activation of DP₁ receptors might also augment the responses to inflammatory mediators by increasing blood flow and vascular permeability in the affected tissue [332], consistent with the expression of these receptors on endothelial cells [238]. Alternatively, stimulation of DP₁ receptors

on eosinophils could increase their survival in the lung, as shown for BW245C (although not for PGD_2 itself) *in vitro* [11].

On the other hand, there is evidence that the DP₁ receptor might play an inhibitory role in allergic responses. PGD₂, when co-administered intratracheally with FITC-labelled OVA, inhibited the migration of dendritic cells from the lungs to draining lymph nodes. This effect was shared by BW245C but not by dhk-PGD₂, indicating the involvement of DP₁ receptors [333]. Furthermore, the selective DP₁ receptor antagonist BWA868C augments the activation of eosinophils by PGD₂[9], suggesting that this receptor might serve to attenuate DP₂ receptor-meditated responses in these cells.

The response to PGD₂ and selective DP₂ receptor agonists was delayed, as it was not observed after 4 h and was only about half maximal by 12 h. This is similar to the time course for 5-oxo-ETE-induced pulmonary eosinophilia in Brown Norway rats [200].The delay in eosinophil infiltration suggests that this response may be dependent on mobilization of these cells from the bone marrow. The DP₂ receptor agonist Δ^{12} -PGJ₂ has been shown to induce the release of eosinophils from the bone marrow in the guinea pig isolated perfused hind limb preparation [334]. Moreover, intravenous injection of dhk-PGD₂ into Brown Norway rats has been reported to result in increased numbers of circulating eosinophils [250]. Thus, it is possible that PGD₂ and the DP₂ agonists used in the present study first acted on the bone marrow to induce the release of eosinophils, and then promoted their accumulation in the lung through their chemoattractant properties. Alternatively, we cannot rule out the possibility that DP₂ receptor agonists act indirectly, by stimulating the release of an eosinophil chemoattractant from another cell-type.

All three compounds tested in the dose response study elicited diminished responses at the highest dose tested. Although in the case of PGD₂ this could potentially be explained by an inhibitory effect of the DP₁ receptor, this would not pertain to the selective DP₂ receptor agonists. PGD₂ is known to have some agonist activity at TP receptors for thromboxane A₂, resulting in bronchoconstrictor responses to higher doses [335]. It is possible that 15R-methyl-PGD₂ and 15d-PGJ₂ could also activate these receptors, and thereby elicit bronchoconstrictor responses. This could possibly have limited the distribution of agonist throughout the airways, resulting in a reduced eosinophil response.

Our results differ from a previous report which demonstrated that inhalation of aerosolized PGD₂ by antigen-sensitized mice does not result in elevated eosinophil numbers in BAL fluid between 24 and 48 h after treatment [336]. In contrast, exposure of these mice to low-dose antigen 24 h after administration of PGD₂ induced a strong eosinophilic response that could be blocked by an antibody to macrophage-derived chemokine (MDC). Furthermore, PGD₂ was shown to increase the expression of MDC by airway epithelial cells [336]. The nature of the receptor responsible for these effects is not known, although the DP₁ receptor would appear to be the most likely candidate. Expression of the DP₂ receptor is fairly limited, being restricted principally to eosinophils, Th2 cells, and basophils [220] and [238]whereas the DP₁ receptor is expressed in a larger number of cells, including airway epithelial cells [238]. There are several possible explanations for the differences between the two studies. It is possible that the rat may respond more strongly than the mouse to PGD₂. Alternatively, the dose of PGD₂ used in the mouse may have been too high to observe a direct effect of PGD₂ on eosinophil infiltration. Consistent with this, we observed

diminished responses to PGD_2 at the highest dose tested (cf. Fig. 10). Finally, eosinophil numbers were evaluated by a more selective method (immunocyto-Chemistry) in lung tissue in the present study.

4.2. Claims to Original Research

- 1. This thesis presents the first published data concerning the direct effect of PGD₂ on eosinophil infiltration into the lung. This raises the possibility that PGD₂ and/or its receptors may be an important target for future asthma therapy.
- 2. The in vivo effects of PGD_2 were shown to be mediated by DP_2 receptor.

3. This is the first study to show that the selective DP_2 agonist 15R-methyl PGD_2 is active in vivo, and is more potent than PGD_2 in inducing pulmonary eosinophilia.

4. In spite of its reported anti-inflamatory properties, we have shown that $15d-PGJ_2$ induces infiltration of eosinophils into the lung.

4.3. Conclusion and Future Considerations

As discussed earlier, eosinophils are thought to play a central role in the pathogenesis of asthma. Therapeutic strategies that targeting eosinophils in bronchial asthma could be potentially valuable. There is appealing evidence that PGD₂ is an important mediator in asthma, because of its rapid release from mast cells and its chemotactic effect on eosinophils. The results presented herein show for the first time that PGD₂ and selective DP₂ receptor agonists induce pulmonary eosinophilia *in vivo* in a time- and dose-dependent manner. On the other hand, the selective DP₁ receptor agonist BW245C is inactive. 15R-methyl-PGD₂ is the most potent among these compounds, and should serve as an excellent selective DP₂ receptor agonist for *in vivo* studies. 15d-PGJ₂ is also a potent inducer of eosinophil infiltration in vivo, which raises some doubt about its potential usefulness as an anti-inflammatory agent. These results are consistent with an important role for PGD₂ and the DP₂ receptor/CRTH₂ in allergic diseases such as asthma.

To conclude, although the findings presented here suggest that PGD_2 may be a potent eosinophil-chemoattractant, further evidence is clearly required to demonstrate that it has a pathophisiological role in the recruitment of this cell type in asthma. A tool that might be used to further explore this issue is blocking the formation of PGD_2 or antagonizing its effect to demonstrate that it has direct effect in blocking or reducing eosinophil recruitment in asthma models. Another interesting way to study this is to create animal models that lack both DP_1 and DP_2 receptors and investigate the effect on eosinophil infiltration and other asthmatic responses following antigen challenge. **CHAPTER 5**

REFERENCES

References

- 1. Bousquet, J., et al., *Asthma. From bronchoconstriction to airways inflammation and remodeling.* American Journal of Respiratory & Critical Care Medicine, 2000. **161**(5): p. 1720-45.
- 2. Bousquet, J., et al., *Eosinophilic inflammation in asthma.[see comment]*. New England Journal of Medicine, 1990. **323**(15): p. 1033-9.
- 3. Wardlaw, A.J., et al., *Eosinophils in asthma and other allergic diseases*. British Medical Bulletin, 2000. **56**(4): p. 985-1003.
- Holgate, S., *Mediator and cytokine mechanisms in asthma*. Thorax, 1993.
 48(2): p. 103-9.
- Wardlaw, A.J., Molecular basis for selective eosinophil trafficking in asthma: A multistep paradigm. Journal of Allergy & Clinical Immunology, 1999. 104(5): p. 917-26.
- Powell, W.S., A novel PGD(2) receptor expressed in eosinophils. Prostaglandins Leukotrienes & Essential Fatty Acids, 2003. 69(2-3): p. 179-85.
- Murray, J.J., et al., Release of prostaglandin D2 into human airways during acute antigen challenge. New England Journal of Medicine, 1986. 315(13): p. 800-4.
- 8. Urade, Y., et al., *Mast cells contain spleen-type prostaglandin D synthetase*. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 1990. **265**(1): p. 371-5.
- 9. Monneret, G., et al., *Prostaglandin D2 is a potent chemoattractant for human eosinophils that acts via a novel DP receptor*. Blood, 2001. **98**(6): p. 1942-8.
- 10. Matsuoka, T., et al., *Prostaglandin D2 as a mediator of allergic asthma*. Science, 2000. **287**(5460): p. 2013-7.
- 11. Gervais, F.G., et al., Selective modulation of chemokinesis, degranulation, and apoptosis in eosinophils through the PGD2 receptors CRTH2 and DP. Journal of Allergy & Clinical Immunology, 2001. **108**(6): p. 982-8.
- 12. Powell, W.S., 15-Deoxy-delta12,14-PGJ2: endogenous PPARgamma ligand or minor eicosanoid degradation product? [comment]. Journal of Clinical Investigation, 2003. 112(6): p. 828-30.
- 13. Miller, A.L., *The etiologies, pathophysiology, and alternative/complementary treatment of asthma.* Alternative Medicine Review, 2001. **6**(1): p. 20-47.
- 14. Lemanske, R.F., Jr. and W.W. Busse, *6. Asthma.* Journal of Allergy & Clinical Immunology, 2003. 111(2 Suppl): p. S502-19.

- 15. Cullinan, P. and A. Newman Taylor, *Asthma: environmental and occupational factors*. British Medical Bulletin, 2003. **68**: p. 227-42.
- 16. Galli, S.J., *Complexity and redundancy in the pathogenesis of asthma: reassessing the roles of mast cells and T cells.* Journal of Experimental Medicine, 1997. **186**(3): p. 343-7.
- 17. Wills-Karp, M., *Immunologic basis of antigen-induced airway* hyperresponsiveness. Annual Review of Immunology, 1999. 17: p. 255-81.
- 18. Corry, D.B. and F. Kheradmand, *Induction and regulation of the IgE response*. Nature, 1999. **402**(6760 Suppl): p. B18-23.
- 19. Busse, W.W. and R.F. Lemanske, *Asthma*. N Engl J Med, 2001. **344**(5): p. 350-362.
- 20. Boyce, J.A., *The role of mast cells in asthma.* Prostaglandins Leukotrienes & Essential Fatty Acids, 2003. **69**(2-3): p. 195-205.
- 21. Elias, J.A., et al., *New insights into the pathogenesis of asthma*. Journal of Clinical Investigation, 2003. **111**(3): p. 291-7.
- 22. O'Byrne, P., *Asthma pathogenesis and allergen-induced late responses.* Journal of Allergy & Clinical Immunology, 1998. **102**(5): p. S85-9.
- 23. De Monchy, J.G., et al., *Bronchoalveolar eosinophilia during allergeninduced late asthmatic reactions*. American Review of Respiratory Disease, 1985. **131**(3): p. 373-6.
- 24. Robinson, D., et al., Activation of CD4+ T cells, increased TH2-type cytokine mRNA expression, and eosinophil recruitment in bronchoalveolar lavage after allergen inhalation challenge in patients with atopic asthma. Journal of Allergy & Clinical Immunology, 1993. **92**(2): p. 313-24.
- 25. Guo, C.B., et al., *Identification of IgE-bearing cells in the late-phase response* to antigen in the lung as basophils. American Journal of Respiratory Cell & Molecular Biology, 1994. **10**(4): p. 384-90.
- 26. Koh, Y.Y., et al., *Neutrophils recruited to the lungs of humans by segmental antigen challenge display a reduced chemotactic response to leukotriene B4.* American Journal of Respiratory Cell & Molecular Biology, 1993. **8**(5): p. 493-9.
- Calhoun, W.J., et al., *Increased airway inflammation with segmental versus aerosol antigen challenge*. American Review of Respiratory Disease, 1993. 147(6 Pt 1): p. 1465-71.
- 28. Lemanske, R., *Inflammatory events in asthma: An expanding equation.* Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology, 2000. **105**(6): p. 633-636.

- 29. Tomioka, M., et al., *Mast cells in bronchoalveolar lumen of patients with bronchial asthma*. American Review of Respiratory Disease, 1984. **129**(6): p. 1000-5.
- 30. Rabe, K.F. and D.T. Schmidt, *Pharmacological treatment of asthma today*. European Respiratory Journal - Supplement, 2001. **34**: p. 34s-40s.
- 31. Ohno, I., et al., *Transforming growth factor beta 1 (TGF beta 1) gene* expression by eosinophils in asthmatic airway inflammation. American Journal of Respiratory Cell & Molecular Biology, 1996. **15**(3): p. 404-9.
- 32. Hirst, S.J., et al., *Proliferative aspects of airway smooth muscle*. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology, 2004. **114**(2, Supplement 1): p. S2-S17.
- Puxeddu, I. and F. Levi-Schaffer, Mast cells and eosinophils: the "hallmark" of asthma. Paediatric Respiratory Reviews, 2004. 5(Supplement 1): p. S31-S34.
- 34. Kay, A.B., S. Phipps, and D.S. Robinson, *A role for eosinophils in airway remodelling in asthma*. Trends in Immunology, 2004. **25**(9): p. 477-482.
- 35. Sterk, P.J. and E.H. Bel, *The shape of the dose-response curve to inhaled bronchoconstrictor agents in asthma and in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease*. American Review of Respiratory Disease, 1991. **143**(6): p. 1433-7.
- 36. Woolcock, A.J., C.M. Salome, and K. Yan, *The shape of the dose-response curve to histamine in asthmatic and normal subjects*. American Review of Respiratory Disease, 1984. **130**(1): p. 71-5.
- Wardlaw, A.J., et al., Eosinophils and mast cells in bronchoalveolar lavage in subjects with mild asthma. Relationship to bronchial hyperreactivity. American Review of Respiratory Disease, 1988. 137(1): p. 62-9.
- Bai, T.R., J.C. Mak, and P.J. Barnes, A comparison of beta-adrenergic receptors and in vitro relaxant responses to isoproterenol in asthmatic airway smooth muscle. American Journal of Respiratory Cell & Molecular Biology, 1992. 6(6): p. 647-51.
- Wills-Karp, M., et al., Organ culture with proinflammatory cytokines reproduces impairment of the beta-adrenoceptor-mediated relaxation in tracheas of a guinea pig antigen model. American Journal of Respiratory Cell & Molecular Biology, 1993. 8(2): p. 153-9.
- 40. Niimi, A., et al., *Relationship of airway wall thickness to airway sensitivity and airway reactivity in asthma.[see comment].* American Journal of Respiratory & Critical Care Medicine, 2003. **168**(8): p. 983-8.
- 41. Jacoby, D.B., G.J. Gleich, and A.D. Fryer, *Human eosinophil major basic protein is an endogenous allosteric antagonist at the inhibitory muscarinic M2 receptor*. Journal of Clinical Investigation, 1993. **91**(4): p. 1314-8.

- 42. Kay, A.B., *Pathology of mild, severe, and fatal asthma*. American Journal of Respiratory & Critical Care Medicine, 1996. **154**(2 Pt 2): p. S66-9.
- 43. Djukanovic, R., et al., *Mucosal inflammation in asthma*. American Review of Respiratory Disease, 1990. **142**(2): p. 434-57.
- 44. Howarth, P.H., et al., *Cytokines and airway inflammation*. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 1994. **725**: p. 69-82.
- 45. Sertl, K., et al., *Dendritic cells with antigen-presenting capability reside in airway epithelium, lung parenchyma, and visceral pleura.* Journal of Experimental Medicine, 1986. **163**(2): p. 436-51.
- 46. Moller, G.M., et al., *Increased numbers of dendritic cells in the bronchial mucosa of atopic asthmatic patients: downregulation by inhaled corticosteroids*. Clinical & Experimental Allergy, 1996. **26**(5): p. 517-24.
- 47. Lambrecht, B.N., *The dendritic cell in allergic airway diseases: a new player to the game.* Clinical & Experimental Allergy, 2001. **31**(2): p. 206-18.
- 48. Tunon-De-Lara, J.M., et al., *Dendritic cells in normal and asthmatic airways:* expression of the alpha subunit of the high affinity immunoglobulin E receptor (*Fc epsilon RI -alpha*). Clinical & Experimental Allergy, 1996. **26**(6): p. 648-55.
- 49. Banchereau, J. and R.M. Steinman, *Dendritic cells and the control of immunity*. Nature, 1998. **392**(6673): p. 245-52.
- 50. Semper, A.E., et al., *Expression of the high affinity receptor for immunoglobulin E (IgE) by dendritic cells in normals and asthmatics.* Advances in Experimental Medicine & Biology, 1995. **378**: p. 135-8.
- 51. Julia, V., et al., A restricted subset of dendritic cells captures airborne antigens and remains able to activate specific T cells long after antigen exposure. Immunity, 2002. 16(2): p. 271-83.
- 52. Broide, D.H., et al., *Evidence of ongoing mast cell and eosinophil degranulation in symptomatic asthma airway*. Journal of Allergy & Clinical Immunology, 1991. **88**(4): p. 637-48.
- 53. O'Sullivan, S., et al., Increased urinary excretion of the prostaglandin D2 metabolite 9 alpha, 11 beta-prostaglandin F2 after aspirin challenge supports mast cell activation in aspirin-induced airway obstruction. Journal of Allergy & Clinical Immunology, 1996. **98**(2): p. 421-32.
- 54. Greiff, L., et al., *Plasma exudation and solute absorption across the airway mucosa*. Clinical Physiology, 1993. **13**(3): p. 219-33.
- 55. Brown, J.K., et al., *Tryptase's potent mitogenic effects in human airway smooth muscle cells are via nonproteolytic actions.[see comment].* American

Journal of Physiology - Lung Cellular & Molecular Physiology, 2002. **282**(2): p. L197-206.

- 56. Williams, C.M. and S.J. Galli, *The diverse potential effector and immunoregulatory roles of mast cells in allergic disease*. Journal of Allergy & Clinical Immunology, 2000. **105**(5): p. 847-59.
- 57. Gerblich, A.A., H. Salik, and M.R. Schuyler, *Dynamic T-cell changes in peripheral blood and bronchoalveolar lavage after antigen bronchoprovocation in asthmatics.* American Review of Respiratory Disease, 1991. **143**(3): p. 533-7.
- 58. Azzawi, M., et al., *Identification of activated T lymphocytes and eosinophils in bronchial biopsies in stable atopic asthma.* American Review of Respiratory Disease, 1990. **142**(6 Pt 1): p. 1407-13.
- 59. Asano, M., et al., *Autoimmune disease as a consequence of developmental abnormality of a T cell subpopulation.* Journal of Experimental Medicine, 1996. **184**(2): p. 387-96.
- 60. Abbas, A.K., K.M. Murphy, and A. Sher, *Functional diversity of helper T lymphocytes*. Nature, 1996. **383**(6603): p. 787-93.
- 61. Walker, C., et al., Allergic and nonallergic asthmatics have distinct patterns of *T-cell activation and cytokine production in peripheral blood and* bronchoalveolar lavage. American Review of Respiratory Disease, 1992. **146**(1): p. 109-15.
- 62. Corrigan, C.J., A. Hartnell, and A.B. Kay, *T lymphocyte activation in acute severe asthma*. Lancet, 1988. 1(8595): p. 1129-32.
- 63. Walker, C., et al., Activated T cells and eosinophilia in bronchoalveolar lavages from subjects with asthma correlated with disease severity. Journal of Allergy & Clinical Immunology, 1991. **88**(6): p. 935-42.
- 64. Robinson, D.S., et al., Activated memory T helper cells in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid from patients with atopic asthma: relation to asthma symptoms, lung function, and bronchial responsiveness. Thorax, 1993. **48**(1): p. 26-32.
- 65. Gavett, S.H., et al., Depletion of murine CD4+ T lymphocytes prevents antigen-induced airway hyperreactivity and pulmonary eosinophilia. American Journal of Respiratory Cell & Molecular Biology, 1994. 10(6): p. 587-93.
- 66. Li, X.M., et al., *Mucosal IFN-gamma gene transfer inhibits pulmonary* allergic responses in mice. Journal of Immunology, 1996. **157**(8): p. 3216-9.
- 67. Lack, G., et al., *Nebulized IFN-gamma inhibits the development of secondary allergic responses in mice.* Journal of Immunology, 1996. **15**7(4): p. 1432-9.

- Capron, M., Dual function of eosinophils in pathogenesis and protective immunity against parasites. Memorias do Instituto Oswaldo Cruz, 1992. 87 Suppl 5: p. 83-9.
- 69. Gleich, G., et al., *Eosinophils In Inflammation: Basic principles and Clinical Correlates*. 1992, New York: Raven Press, Ltd. 663-699.
- Yamaguchi, Y., et al., Analysis of the survival of mature human eosinophils: interleukin-5 prevents apoptosis in mature human eosinophils. Blood, 1991.
 78(10): p. 2542-7.
- 71. Bainton, D.F. and M.G. Farquhar, *Segregation and packaging of granule enzymes in eosinophilic leukocytes.* Journal of Cell Biology, 1970. **45**(1): p. 54-73.
- 72. Lewis, D.M., et al., *Localization of the guinea pig eosinophil major basic protein to the core of the granule*. Journal of Cell Biology, 1978. 77(3): p. 702-13.
- 73. Levi-Schaffer, F., et al., *Identification of interleukin-2 in human peripheral blood eosinophils*. Immunology, 1996. **87**(1): p. 155-61.
- 74. Levi-Schaffer, F., et al., *Association of granulocyte-macrophage colonystimulating factor with the crystalloid granules of human eosinophils.* Blood, 1995. **85**(9): p. 2579-86.
- 75. Moller, G.M., et al., Ultrastructural immunogold localization of interleukin 5 to the crystalloid core compartment of eosinophil secondary granules in patients with atopic asthma. Journal of Histochemistry & Cytochemistry, 1996. 44(1): p. 67-9.
- 76. Ueki, S., et al., *Expression of PPARgamma in eosinophils and its functional role in survival and chemotaxis.* Immunology Letters, 2003. **86**(2): p. 183-9.
- Iozzo, R.V., G.H. MacDonald, and T.N. Wight, *Immunoelectron microscopic* localization of catalase in human eosinophilic leukocytes. Journal of Histochemistry & Cytochemistry, 1982. 30(7): p. 697-701.
- 78. Hamid, Q., et al., *Human eosinophils synthesize and secrete interleukin-6, in vitro.* Blood, 1992. **80**(6): p. 1496-501.
- 79. Beil, W.J., et al., Ultrastructural immunogold localization of tumor necrosis factor-alpha to the matrix compartment of eosinophil secondary granules in patients with idiopathic hypereosinophilic syndrome. Journal of Histochemistry & Cytochemistry, 1993. **41**(11): p. 1611-5.
- 80. Ying, S., et al., *Human eosinophils express messenger RNA encoding RANTES and store and release biologically active RANTES protein.* European Journal of Immunology, 1996. **26**(1): p. 70-6.

- 81. Metcalfe, D.D., J. Litvin, and S.I. Wasserman, *The isolation, identification and characterization of sulfated glycosaminoglycans synthesized in vitro by human eosinophils.* Biochimica et Biophysica Acta, 1982. **715**(2): p. 196-204.
- 82. Weller, P.F., et al., *Cytoplasmic lipid bodies of human eosinophils. Subcellular isolation and analysis of arachidonate incorporation.* American Journal of Pathology, 1991. **138**(1): p. 141-8.
- 83. Weller, P.F. and A.M. Dvorak, *Lipid bodies: intracellular sites for eicosanoid formation.* Journal of Allergy & Clinical Immunology, 1994. **94**(6 Pt 2): p. 1151-6.
- 84. Weller, P.F., et al., *Cytoplasmic lipid bodies in eosinophils: central roles in eicosanoid generation.* International Archives of Allergy & Immunology, 1999. **118**(2-4): p. 450-2.
- 85. Chihara, J., et al., *Characterization of a receptor for interleukin 5 on human eosinophils: variable expression and induction by granulocyte/macrophage colony-stimulating factor.* Journal of Experimental Medicine, 1990. **172**(5): p. 1347-51.
- 86. Pin, I., et al., *Use of induced sputum cell counts to investigate airway inflammation in asthma*. Thorax, 1992. **47**(1): p. 25-9.
- 87. Clutterbuck, E.J., E.M. Hirst, and C.J. Sanderson, *Human interleukin-5 (IL-5) regulates the production of eosinophils in human bone marrow cultures: comparison and interaction with IL-1, IL-3, IL-6, and GMCSF.* Blood, 1989. **73**(6): p. 1504-12.
- 88. Zeck-Kapp, G., W. Czech, and A. Kapp, *TNF alpha-induced activation of* eosinophil oxidative metabolism and morphology--comparison with IL-5. Experimental Dermatology, 1994. **3**(4): p. 176-88.
- 89. Hartnell, A., et al., *Fc gamma and CD11/CD18 receptor expression on normal density and low density human eosinophils.* Immunology, 1990. **69**(2): p. 264-70.
- Capron, M., et al., Existence et fonctions d'un recepteur pour l'immunoglobuline A sur les eosinophiles humains. Comptes Rendus de L'Academie des Sciences - Serie Iii, Sciences de la Vie, 1988. 307(7): p. 397-402.
- 91. Fujisawa, T., et al., *Regulatory effect of cytokines on eosinophil degranulation*. Journal of Immunology, 1990. **144**(2): p. 642-6.
- 92. Yamamoto, H. and M. Nagata, *Regulatory mechanisms of eosinophil adhesion* to and transmigration across endothelial cells by alpha4 and beta2 integrins. International Archives of Allergy & Immunology, 1999. **120 Suppl 1**: p. 24-6.

- 93. Seminario, M.C. and B.S. Bochner, *Expression and function of beta 1 integrins on human eosinophils*. Memorias do Instituto Oswaldo Cruz, 1997.
 92 Suppl 2: p. 157-64.
- 94. Smith, J.B., et al., *Expression and regulation of L-selectin on eosinophils from human adults and neonates.* Pediatric Research, 1992. **32**(4): p. 465-71.
- 95. Hansel, T.T., et al., *Sputum eosinophils from asthmatics express ICAM-1 and HLA-DR*. Clinical & Experimental Immunology, 1991. **86**(2): p. 271-7.
- 96. Azuma, M., et al., Adhesion molecule expression on eosinophils in idiopathic eosinophilic pneumonia. [see comment]. European Respiratory Journal, 1996.
 9(12): p. 2494-500.
- 97. Wein, M., et al., Comparison of human eosinophil and neutrophil ligands for P-selectin: ligands for P-selectin differ from those for E-selectin. American Journal of Respiratory Cell & Molecular Biology, 1995. **12**(3): p. 315-9.
- 98. Bochner, B. and R. Schleimer, *The role of adhesion molecules in human eosinophil and basophil recruitment*. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology, 1994. **94**(3): p. 427-438.
- 99. Hogg, N. and C. Berlin, *Structure and function of adhesion receptors in leukocyte trafficking*. Immunology Today, 1995. **16**(7): p. 327-30.
- 100. Tachimoto, H. and B.S. Bochner, *The surface phenotype of human eosinophils*. Chemical Immunology, 2000. **76**: p. 45-62.
- 101. Kishimoto, T.K., et al., Antibodies against human neutrophil LECAM-1 (LAM-1/Leu-8/DREG-56 antigen) and endothelial cell ELAM-1 inhibit a common CD18-independent adhesion pathway in vitro. Blood, 1991. **78**(3): p. 805-11.
- 102. Carlos, T.M. and J.M. Harlan, *Leukocyte-endothelial adhesion molecules*. Blood, 1994. **84**(7): p. 2068-101.
- 103. Hemler, M.E. and R.R. Lobb, *The leukocyte beta 1 integrins*. Current Opinion in Hematology, 1995. **2**(1): p. 61-7.
- Kitayama, J., et al., Contrasting responses to multiple chemotactic stimuli in transendothelial migration: heterologous desensitization in neutrophils and augmentation of migration in eosinophils. Journal of Immunology, 1997. 158(5): p. 2340-9.
- 105. Mackay, C.R. and B.A. Imhof, *Cell adhesion in the immune system*. Immunology Today, 1993. **14**(3): p. 99-102.
- 106. Zimmerman, G.A., S.M. Prescott, and T.M. McIntyre, Endothelial cell interactions with granulocytes: tethering and signaling molecules. Immunology Today, 1992. 13(3): p. 93-100.

- 107. Imhof, B.A. and D. Dunon, *Leukocyte migration and adhesion*. Advances in Immunology, 1995. **58**: p. 345-416.
- Luscinskas, F.W. and M.A. Gimbrone, Jr., Endothelial-dependent mechanisms in chronic inflammatory leukocyte recruitment. Annual Review of Medicine, 1996. 47: p. 413-21.
- 109. McEver, R.P., *Leukocyte interactions mediated by selectins*. Thrombosis & Haemostasis, 1991. **66**(1): p. 80-7.
- 110. Gahmberg, C.G., M. Tolvanen, and P. Kotovuori, *Leukocyte adhesion--structure and function of human leukocyte beta2-integrins and their cellular ligands*. European Journal of Biochemistry, 1997. **245**(2): p. 215-32.
- 111. Elices, M.J., et al., VCAM-1 on activated endothelium interacts with the leukocyte integrin VLA-4 at a site distinct from the VLA-4/fibronectin binding site. Cell, 1990. **60**(4): p. 577-84.
- 112. AG, E., *The pathologic anatomy of bronchial asthma*. Am. J. Med. Sci, 1908(136): p. 407-10.
- 113. Foresi, A., et al., Eosinophils, mast cells, and basophils in induced sputum from patients with seasonal allergic rhinitis and perennial asthma: relationship to methacholine responsiveness.[erratum appears in J Allergy Clin Immunol 1997 Nov;100(5):720]. Journal of Allergy & Clinical Immunology, 1997. 100(1): p. 58-64.
- 114. Ulrik, C.S., *Peripheral eosinophil counts as a marker of disease activity in intrinsic and extrinsic asthma.[see comment].* Clinical & Experimental Allergy, 1995. **25**(9): p. 820-7.
- 115. Gauvreau, G.M., et al., *The effects of inhaled budesonide on circulating* eosinophil progenitors and their expression of cytokines after allergen challenge in subjects with atopic asthma. American Journal of Respiratory & Critical Care Medicine, 2000. **162**(6): p. 2139-44.
- 116. Hamid, Q.A. and E.M. Minshall, *Molecular pathology of allergic disease: I: lower airway disease.* Journal of Allergy & Clinical Immunology, 2000. 105(1 Pt 1): p. 20-36.
- 117. Woodruff, P.G., et al., *Relationship between airway inflammation*, *hyperresponsiveness, and obstruction in asthma.* Journal of Allergy & Clinical Immunology, 2001. **108**(5): p. 753-8.
- 118. Sugai, T., Y. Sakiyama, and S. Matumoto, *Eosinophil cationic protein in peripheral blood of pediatric patients with allergic diseases*. Clinical & Experimental Allergy, 1992. 22(2): p. 275-81.

- 119. Durham, S.R., et al., Blood eosinophils and eosinophil-derived proteins in allergic asthma. Journal of Allergy & Clinical Immunology, 1989. 84(6 Pt 1): p. 931-6.
- Prehn, A., et al., *The relationship of serum-eosinophil cationic protein and eosinophil count to disease activity in children with bronchial asthma*. Pediatric Allergy & Immunology, 1998. 9(4): p. 197-203.
- 121. Koller, D.Y., et al., *Clinical value of monitoring eosinophil activity in asthma.[see comment]*. Archives of Disease in Childhood, 1995. 73(5): p. 413-7.
- 122. Schmekel, B. and P. Venge, *Markers for eosinophils and T-lymphocytes as predictors of late asthmatic response*. Allergy, 1993. **48**(17 Suppl): p. 94-7; discussion 110-1.
- 123. Hogan, S.P., et al., *Cellular and molecular regulation of eosinophil trafficking* to the lung. Immunology & Cell Biology, 1998. **76**(5): p. 454-60.
- 124. Mould, A.W., et al., *The effect of IL-5 and eotaxin expression in the lung on eosinophil trafficking and degranulation and the induction of bronchial hyperreactivity.* Journal of Immunology, 2000. **164**(4): p. 2142-50.
- 125. Gleich, G.J., C.R. Adolphson, and K.M. Leiferman, *The biology of the eosinophilic leukocyte*. Annual Review of Medicine, 1993. 44: p. 85-101.
- 126. Shi, H.Z., et al., Endobronchial eosinophils preferentially stimulate T helper cell type 2 responses. Allergy, 2004. **59**(4): p. 428-35.
- 127. Walsh, G.M., *Eosinophil granule proteins and their role in disease*. Current Opinion in Hematology, 2001. **8**(1): p. 28-33.
- 128. Pope, S., et al., *IL-13 induces eosinophil recruitment into the lung by an IL-5and eotaxin-dependent mechanism.* Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology, 2001. **108**(4): p. 594-601.
- Mauser, P.J., et al., *Effects of an antibody to interleukin-5 in a monkey model of asthma*. American Journal of Respiratory & Critical Care Medicine, 1995. 152(2): p. 467-72.
- Justice, J.P., et al., Ablation of eosinophils leads to a reduction of allergeninduced pulmonary pathology. American Journal of Physiology - Lung Cellular & Molecular Physiology, 2003. 284(1): p. L169-78.
- 131. Humbles, A.A., et al., *A Critical Role for Eosinophils in Allergic Airways Remodeling.* Science, 2004. **305**(5691): p. 1776-1779.
- 132. Rabe, K.F., et al., *Contraction of human bronchial smooth muscle caused by activated human eosinophils*. American Journal of Physiology, 1994. **267**(3 Pt 1): p. L326-34.

- 133. Aizawa, T., et al., *Eosinophil supernatant causes hyperresponsiveness of airway smooth muscle in guinea pig trachea*. American Review of Respiratory Disease, 1990. **142**(1): p. 133-7.
- 134. White, S.R., et al., *Epithelium-dependent contraction of airway smooth muscle caused by eosinophil MBP*. American Journal of Physiology, 1990. 259(4 Pt 1): p. L294-303.
- Brofman, J.D., et al., *Epithelial augmentation of trachealis contraction caused by major basic protein of eosinophils*. Journal of Applied Physiology, 1989.
 66(4): p. 1867-73.
- 136. Woerly, G., et al., *Human eosinophils express and release IL-13 following* CD28-dependent activation. J Leukoc Biol, 2002. 72(4): p. 769-779.
- 137. Mattes, J., et al., *IL-13 induces airways hyperreactivity independently of the IL-4R alpha chain in the allergic lung.* Journal of Immunology, 2001. 167(3): p. 1683-92.
- 138. Phipps, S., et al., *The relationship between allergen-induced tissue eosinophilia and markers of repair and remodeling in human atopic skin.* Journal of Immunology, 2002. **169**(8): p. 4604-12.
- 139. Gleich, G., *Mechanisms of eosinophil-associated inflammation*. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology, 2000. **105**(4): p. 651-663.
- 140. Calpin, C., et al., *Effectiveness of prophylactic inhaled steroids in childhood asthma: a systemic review of the literature.* Journal of Allergy & Clinical Immunology, 1997. **100**(4): p. 452-7.
- 141. Adcock, I.M., *Molecular mechanisms of glucocorticosteroid actions*. Pulmonary Pharmacology & Therapeutics, 2000. **13**(3): p. 115-26.
- 142. MacKenzie, J.R., et al., *Eosinophils Promote Allergic Disease of the Lung by Regulating CD4+ Th2 Lymphocyte Function.* J Immunol, 2001. **167**(6): p. 3146-3155.
- 143. Koller, D.Y., et al., High levels of eosinophil cationic protein in wheezing infants predict the development of asthma. Journal of Allergy & Clinical Immunology, 1997. 99(6 Pt 1): p. 752-6.
- 144. Zimmerman, B., et al., *Asthma in children less than 5 years of age: eosinophils and serum levels of the eosinophil proteins ECP and EPX in relation to atopy and symptoms.* Clinical & Experimental Allergy, 1994. **24**(2): p. 149-55.
- 145. Walsh, G.M., D.W. Sexton, and M.G. Blaylock, *Corticosteroids, eosinophils* and bronchial epithelial cells: new insights into the resolution of inflammation in asthma. Journal of Endocrinology, 2003. **178**(1): p. 37-43.

- 146. Zimmerman, B., et al., *Total blood eosinophils, serum eosinophil cationic protein and eosinophil protein X in childhood asthma: relation to disease status and therapy*. Clinical & Experimental Allergy, 1993. **23**(7): p. 564-70.
- 147. Kristjansson, S., et al., Urinary eosinophil protein X in children with atopic asthma: a useful marker of antiinflammatory treatment. Journal of Allergy & Clinical Immunology, 1996. 97(6): p. 1179-87.
- 148. Resnick, M.B. and P.F. Weller, *Mechanisms of eosinophil recruitment*. American Journal of Respiratory Cell & Molecular Biology, 1993. 8(4): p. 349-55.
- Rothenberg, M.E., *Eosinophilia*. New England Journal of Medicine, 1998.
 338(22): p. 1592-600.
- 150. Hamid, Q., *Eosinophils in allergic inflammation*1*. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology, 2004. **113**(1): p. 182-184.
- 151. Kobayashi, H., *Effect of c-kit ligand (stem cell factor) in combination with interleukin-5, granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor, and interleukin-3, on eosinophil lineage.* International Journal of Hematology, 1993. **58**(1-2): p. 21-6.
- 152. Peled, A., et al., *The chemotactic cytokine eotaxin acts as a granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor during lung inflammation*. Blood, 1998.
 91(6): p. 1909-16.
- 153. Denburg, J.A., Bone marrow in atopy and asthma: hematopoietic mechanisms in allergic inflammation. Immunology Today, 1999. **20**(3): p. 111-3.
- 154. Kroegel, C., et al., *Pulmonary immune cells in health and disease: the eosinophil leucocyte (Part I)*. European Respiratory Journal, 1994. 7(3): p. 519-43.
- Nagata, M., J.B. Sedgwick, and W.W. Busse, Differential effects of granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor on eosinophil and neutrophil superoxide anion generation. Journal of Immunology, 1995. 155(10): p. 4948-54.
- 156. Hakansson, L., et al., *Migratory responses of eosinophil and neutrophil granulocytes from patients with asthma.* Journal of Allergy & Clinical Immunology, 1990. **85**(4): p. 743-50.
- 157. Griffin, E., et al., Increased chemokinetic and chemotactic responses of eosinophils in asthmatic patients. Allergy, 1991. 46(4): p. 255-65.
- 158. Stossel, T.P., The E. Donnall Thomas Lecture, 1993. The machinery of blood cell movements. Blood, 1994. 84(2): p. 367-79.

- 159. Fay, F.S., S.H. Gilbert, and R.A. Brundage, *Calcium signalling during chemotaxis*. Ciba Foundation Symposium, 1995. **188**: p. 121-35; discussion 136-40.
- 160. Carlson, M., et al., *Degranulation of eosinophils from pollen-atopic patients* with asthma is increased during pollen season. Journal of Allergy & Clinical Immunology, 1992. **89**(1 Pt 1): p. 131-9.
- 161. Sur, S., et al., *Eosinophilic inflammation is associated with elevation of interleukin-5 in the airways of patients with spontaneous symptomatic asthma.* Journal of Allergy & Clinical Immunology, 1995. **96**(5 Pt 1): p. 661-8.
- 162. Hakansson, L. and P. Venge, *Priming of eosinophil and neutrophil migratory* responses by interleukin 3 and interleukin 5. APMIS, 1994. **102**(4): p. 308-16.
- Schweizer, R.C., et al., *RANTES- and interleukin-8-induced responses in normal human eosinophils: effects of priming with interleukin-5.* Blood, 1994.
 83(12): p. 3697-704.
- 164. Alam, R., et al., *RANTES is a chemotactic and activating factor for human eosinophils.* Journal of Immunology, 1993. **150**(8 Pt 1): p. 3442-8.
- 165. Garcia-Zepeda, E.A., et al., *Human eotaxin is a specific chemoattractant for eosinophil cells and provides a new mechanism to explain tissue eosinophilia.* Nature Medicine, 1996. 2(4): p. 449-56.
- Petering, H., et al., *The biologic role of interleukin-8: functional analysis and expression of CXCR1 and CXCR2 on human eosinophils.* Blood, 1999. 93(2): p. 694-702.
- Ebisawa, M., et al., Eosinophil transendothelial migration induced by cytokines. I. Role of endothelial and eosinophil adhesion molecules in IL-1 beta-induced transendothelial migration. Journal of Immunology, 1992. 149(12): p. 4021-8.
- 168. Jutila, M.A., et al., Function and regulation of the neutrophil MEL-14 antigen in vivo: comparison with LFA-1 and MAC-1. Journal of Immunology, 1989. 143(10): p. 3318-24.
- 169. Bloemen, P.G., P.A. Henricks, and F.P. Nijkamp, *Cell adhesion molecules and asthma*. Clinical & Experimental Allergy, 1997. **27**(2): p. 128-41.
- 170. Bruijnzeel, P.L., *Eosinophil tissue mobilization in allergic disorders*. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 1994. 725: p. 259-67.
- Palecek, S.P., A.F. Horwitz, and D.A. Lauffenburger, *Kinetic model for integrin-mediated adhesion release during cell migration*. Annals of Biomedical Engineering, 1999. 27(2): p. 219-35.

- 172. Hom, J.T. and T. Estridge, *Antigen-induced recruitment of eosinophils: importance of CD4+ T cells, IL5, and mast cells.* Clinical Immunology & Immunopathology, 1994. **73**(3): p. 305-11.
- 173. Southwick, F.S. and T.P. Stossel, *Contractile proteins in leukocyte function*. Seminars in Hematology, 1983. **20**(4): p. 305-21.
- 174. Liu, L., et al., *Triple role of platelet-activating factor in eosinophil migration* across monolayers of lung epithelial cells: eosinophil chemoattractant and priming agent and epithelial cell activator. Journal of Immunology, 1998.
 161(6): p. 3064-70.
- 175. Kameyoshi, Y., et al., *Cytokine RANTES released by thrombin-stimulated platelets is a potent attractant for human eosinophils*. Journal of Experimental Medicine, 1992. **176**(2): p. 587-92.
- 176. Sehmi, R., et al., Interleukin-8 is a chemo-attractant for eosinophils purified from subjects with a blood eosinophilia but not from normal healthy subjects. Clinical & Experimental Allergy, 1993. 23(12): p. 1027-36.
- 177. Emery, D.L., et al., *Prostaglandin D2 causes accumulation of eosinophils in the lumen of the dog trachea.* Journal of Applied Physiology, 1989. **67**(3): p. 959-62.
- 178. Chen, X.S., et al., *Role of leukotrienes revealed by targeted disruption of the 5-lipoxygenase gene.* Nature, 1994. **372**(6502): p. 179-82.
- 179. Serhan, C.N., *Eicosanoids in leukocyte function*. Current Opinion in Hematology, 1994. 1(1): p. 69-77.
- 180. Henderson, W.R., Jr., *The role of leukotrienes in inflammation*. Annals of Internal Medicine, 1994. **121**(9): p. 684-97.
- 181. Irvine, R.F., *How is the level of free arachidonic acid controlled in mammalian cells*? Biochemical Journal, 1982. **204**(1): p. 3-16.
- van den Bosch, H., Intracellular phospholipases A. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta, 1980. 604(2): p. 191-246.
- Bozza, P.T., et al., Eosinophil Lipid Bodies: Specific, Inducible Intracellular Sites for Enhanced Eicosanoid Formation. J. Exp. Med., 1997. 186(6): p. 909-920.
- 184. Borgeat, P., M. Hamberg, and B. Samuelsson, *Transformation of arachidonic acid and homo-gamma-linolenic acid by rabbit polymorphonuclear leukocytes. Monohydroxy acids from novel lipoxygenases.* Journal of Biological Chemistry, 1976. 251(24): p. 7816-20.
- 185. Shimizu, T., O. Radmark, and B. Samuelsson, *Enzyme with dual lipoxygenase* activities catalyzes leukotriene A4 synthesis from arachidonic acid.

Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 1984. **81**(3): p. 689-93.

- 186. Kanaoka, Y. and J.A. Boyce, Cysteinyl Leukotrienes and Their Receptors: Cellular Distribution and Function in Immune and Inflammatory Responses. J Immunol, 2004. 173(3): p. 1503-1510.
- Hay, D.W., T.J. Torphy, and B.J. Undem, *Cysteinyl leukotrienes in asthma: old mediators up to new tricks*. Trends in Pharmacological Sciences, 1995.
 16(9): p. 304-9.
- 188. Arm, J.P. and T.H. Lee, *Sulphidopeptide leukotrienes in asthma*. Clinical Science, 1993. **84**(5): p. 501-10.
- 189. Dahlen, S.E., et al., *Leukotrienes are potent constrictors of human bronchi.* Nature, 1980. **288**(5790): p. 484-6.
- 190. Marom, Z., et al., *Slow-reacting substances, leukotrienes C4 and D4, increase the release of mucus from human airways in vitro.* American Review of Respiratory Disease, 1982. **126**(3): p. 449-51.
- 191. Adelroth, E., et al., Airway responsiveness to leukotrienes C4 and D4 and to methacholine in patients with asthma and normal controls. New England Journal of Medicine, 1986. **315**(8): p. 480-4.
- 192. Panettieri, R.A., et al., *Effects of LTD4 on human airway smooth muscle cell proliferation, matrix expression, and contraction In vitro: differential sensitivity to cysteinyl leukotriene receptor antagonists.* American Journal of Respiratory Cell & Molecular Biology, 1998. **19**(3): p. 453-61.
- 193. Leikauf, G.D., et al., *Cysteinyl leukotrienes enhance growth of human airway epithelial cells*. American Journal of Physiology, 1990. **259**(4 Pt 1): p. L255-61.
- 194. Medina, L., et al., Leukotriene C4 upregulates collagenase expression and synthesis in human lung fibroblasts. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta, 1994.
 1224(2): p. 168-74.
- 195. Laitinen, L.A., et al., *Leukotriene E4 and granulocytic infiltration into asthmatic airways*. Lancet, 1993. **341**(8851): p. 989-90.
- 196. Diamant, Z., et al., *The effect of inhaled leukotriene D4 and methacholine on sputum cell differentials in asthma*. American Journal of Respiratory & Critical Care Medicine, 1997. **155**(4): p. 1247-53.
- 197. Drazen, J.M. and K.F. Austen, *Leukotrienes and airway responses*. American Review of Respiratory Disease, 1987. **136**(4): p. 985-98.
- 198. Powell, W., F. Gravelle, and S. Gravel, *Metabolism of 5(S)-hydroxy-6,8,11,14*eicosatetraenoic acid and other 5(S)-hydroxyeicosanoids by a specific

dehydrogenase in human polymorphonuclear leukocytes. J. Biol. Chem., 1992. **267**(27): p. 19233-19241.

- 199. Powell, W.S., D. Chung, and S. Gravel, 5-Oxo-6,8,11,14-eicosatetraenoic acid is a potent stimulator of human eosinophil migration. Journal of Immunology, 1995. **154**(8): p. 4123-32.
- 200. Stamatiou, P., et al., 5-oxo-ETE induces pulmonary eosinophilia in an integrin-dependent manner in Brown Norway rats. Journal of Clinical Investigation, 1998. **102**(12): p. 2165-72.
- Mitchell, J.A., S. Larkin, and T.J. Williams, *Cyclooxygenase-2: regulation and relevance in inflammation*. Biochemical Pharmacology, 1995. 50(10): p. 1535-42.
- 202. Nagata, K., et al., *CRTH2*, an orphan receptor of *T*-helper-2-cells, is expressed on basophils and eosinophils and responds to mast cell-derived factor(s). FEBS Letters, 1999. **459**(2): p. 195-9.
- 203. Harris, S.G., et al., *Prostaglandins as modulators of immunity*. Trends in Immunology, 2002. 23(3): p. 144-50.
- 204. Demoly, P., et al., *Prostaglandin H synthase 1 and 2 immunoreactivities in the bronchial mucosa of asthmatics*. American Journal of Respiratory & Critical Care Medicine, 1997. **155**(2): p. 670-5.
- 205. O'Neill, G.P. and A.W. Ford-Hutchinson, *Expression of mRNA for* cyclooxygenase-1 and cyclooxygenase-2 in human tissues. FEBS Letters, 1993. **330**(2): p. 156-60.
- 206. Mitchell, J.A., et al., *Induction of cyclo-oxygenase-2 by cytokines in human pulmonary epithelial cells: regulation by dexamethasone*. British Journal of Pharmacology, 1994. **113**(3): p. 1008-14.
- 207. Asano, K., et al., Interferon gamma induces prostaglandin G/H synthase-2 through an autocrine loop via the epidermal growth factor receptor in human bronchial epithelial cells. Journal of Clinical Investigation, 1997. **99**(5): p. 1057-63.
- 208. Warner, T.D. and J.A. Mitchell, *Cyclooxygenases: new forms, new inhibitors, and lessons from the clinic.* FASEB Journal, 2004. **18**(7): p. 790-804.
- 209. Coleman, R.A., W.L. Smith, and S. Narumiya, International Union of Pharmacology classification of prostanoid receptors: properties, distribution, and structure of the receptors and their subtypes. Pharmacological Reviews, 1994. 46(2): p. 205-29.
- Negishi, M., Y. Sugimoto, and A. Ichikawa, Molecular mechanisms of diverse actions of prostanoid receptors. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta, 1995. 1259(1): p. 109-19.

- 211. Narumiya, S., Y. Sugimoto, and F. Ushikubi, *Prostanoid receptors: structures, properties, and functions.* Physiological Reviews, 1999. **79**(4): p. 1193-226.
- Urade, Y. and O. Hayaishi, *Biochemical, structural, genetic, physiological, and pathophysiological features of lipocalin-type prostaglandin D synthase.* Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Protein Structure and Molecular Enzymology, 2000. 1482(1-2): p. 259-271.
- 213. Urade, Y. and N. Eguchi, *Lipocalin-type and hematopoietic prostaglandin D* synthases as a novel example of functional convergence. Prostaglandins & Other Lipid Mediators, 2002. **68-69**: p. 375-382.
- 214. Urade, Y., et al., *Biochemical and immunological characterization of rat spleen prostaglandin D synthetase*. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 1987.
 262(8): p. 3820-5.
- 215. Kanaoka, Y. and Y. Urade, *Hematopoietic prostaglandin D synthase*. Prostaglandins Leukotrienes & Essential Fatty Acids, 2003. **69**(2-3): p. 163-7.
- 216. Urade, Y., et al., *The major source of endogenous prostaglandin D2* production is likely antigen-presenting cells. Localization of glutathionerequiring prostaglandin D synthetase in histiocytes, dendritic, and Kupffer cells in various rat tissues. Journal of Immunology, 1989. **143**(9): p. 2982-9.
- Tanaka, K., et al., Cutting edge: differential production of prostaglandin D2 by human helper T cell subsets. Journal of Immunology, 2000. 164(5): p. 2277-80.
- Ito, S., S. Narumiya, and O. Hayaishi, *Prostaglandin D2: a biochemical perspective*. Prostaglandins Leukotrienes & Essential Fatty Acids, 1989. 37(4): p. 219-34.
- 219. Narumiya, S. and G.A. FitzGerald, *Genetic and pharmacological analysis of prostanoid receptor function*. Journal of Clinical Investigation, 2001. 108(1): p. 25-30.
- 220. Hirai, H., et al., Prostaglandin D2 selectively induces chemotaxis in T helper type 2 cells, eosinophils, and basophils via seven-transmembrane receptor CRTH2. Journal of Experimental Medicine, 2001. **193**(2): p. 255-61.
- Boie, Y., et al., Molecular cloning and characterization of the human prostanoid DP receptor. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 1995. 270(32): p. 18910-6.
- 222. Mizoguchi, A., et al., Dominant localization of prostaglandin D receptors on arachnoid trabecular cells in mouse basal forebrain and their involvement in the regulation of non-rapid eye movement sleep. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 2001. **98**(20): p. 11674-9.

- 223. Hayaishi, O. and Y. Urade, *Prostaglandin D2 in sleep-wake regulation: recent progress and perspectives*. Neuroscientist, 2002. **8**(1): p. 12-5.
- Hardy, C.C., et al., The bronchoconstrictor effect of inhaled prostaglandin D2 in normal and asthmatic men. New England Journal of Medicine, 1984.
 311(4): p. 209-13.
- 225. Johnston, S.L., et al., *The effects of an oral thromboxane TP receptor* antagonist BAY u 3405, on prostaglandin D2- and histamine-induced bronchoconstriction in asthma, and relationship to plasma drug concentrations. British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology, 1992. 34(5): p. 402-8.
- 226. al Jarad, N., K.P. Hui, and N. Barnes, *Effects of a thromboxane receptor* antagonist on prostaglandin D2 and histamine induced bronchoconstriction in man. British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology, 1994. **37**(1): p. 97-100.
- 227. Tsukagoshi, H. and M. Kurosawa, [Bronchial hyperresponsiveness to histamine induced by intravenous administration of prostaglandin D2 (PGD2) in guinea pigs]. Nippon Yakurigaku Zasshi - Folia Pharmacologica Japonica, 1992. 99(2): p. 83-91.
- 228. Fujitani, Y., et al., *Pronounced eosinophilic lung inflammation and Th2 cytokine release in human lipocalin-type prostaglandin D synthase transgenic mice.* Journal of Immunology, 2002. **168**(1): p. 443-9.
- 229. Chan, C.L., R.L. Jones, and H.Y. Lau, Characterization of prostanoid receptors mediating inhibition of histamine release from anti-IgE-activated rat peritoneal mast cells. British Journal of Pharmacology, 2000. 129(3): p. 589-97.
- 230. Angeli, V., et al., *Role of the parasite-derived prostaglandin D2 in the inhibition of epidermal Langerhans cell migration during schistosomiasis infection.* Journal of Experimental Medicine, 2001. **193**(10): p. 1135-47.
- 231. Gilroy, D.W., et al., *Inducible cyclooxygenase may have anti-inflammatory properties.[see comment].* Nature Medicine, 1999. **5**(6): p. 698-701.
- 232. Marsden, K.A., et al., *The effect of prostaglandin D2 (PGD2) on circulating eosinophils*. Prostaglandins Leukotrienes & Medicine, 1984. **15**(3): p. 387-97.
- 233. Woodward, D.F., et al., *Studies on the ocular pharmacology of prostaglandin* D2. Investigative Ophthalmology & Visual Science, 1990. **31**(1): p. 138-46.
- 234. Raible, D.G., et al., *Mast cell mediators prostaglandin-D2 and histamine activate human eosinophils*. Journal of Immunology, 1992. **148**(11): p. 3536-42.
- 235. Hirata, M., et al., Molecular characterization of a mouse prostaglandin D receptor and functional expression of the cloned gene. Proceedings of the

National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 1994. **91**(23): p. 11192-6.

- 236. Wright, D.H., et al., A novel biological role for prostaglandin D2 is suggested by distribution studies of the rat DP prostanoid receptor. European Journal of Pharmacology, 1999. **377**(1): p. 101-15.
- 237. Kabashima, K. and S. Narumiya, *The DP receptor, allergic inflammation and asthma.* Prostaglandins Leukotrienes & Essential Fatty Acids, 2003. 69(2-3): p. 187-94.
- 238. Nantel, F., et al., *Expression of prostaglandin D synthase and the prostaglandin D2 receptors DP and CRTH2 in human nasal mucosa.* Prostaglandins & Other Lipid Mediators, 2004. **73**(1-2): p. 87-101.
- 239. Leff, P. and H. Giles, *Classification of platelet and vascular prostaglandin D2* (*DP*) receptors: estimation of affinities and relative efficacies for a series of novel bicyclic ligands. With an appendix on goodness-of-fit analyses. British Journal of Pharmacology, 1992. **106**(4): p. 996-1003.
- Wright, D.H., et al., *Characterization of the recombinant human prostanoid* DP receptor and identification of L-644,698, a novel selective DP agonist. British Journal of Pharmacology, 1998. 123(7): p. 1317-24.
- 241. Arimura, A., et al., *Prevention of allergic inflammation by a novel* prostaglandin receptor antagonist, S-5751. Journal of Pharmacology & Experimental Therapeutics, 2001. **298**(2): p. 411-9.
- 242. Matsumura, H., et al., Prostaglandin D2-sensitive, sleep-promoting zone defined in the ventral surface of the rostral basal forebrain. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 1994. 91(25): p. 11998-2002.
- 243. Woodward, D.F., et al., *Further studies on ocular responses to DP receptor stimulation*. European Journal of Pharmacology, 1993. **230**(3): p. 327-33.
- 244. Kohyama, T., et al., *Prostaglandin D2 inhibits fibroblast migration*. European Respiratory Journal, 2002. **19**(4): p. 684-9.
- 245. Ajuebor, M.N., A. Singh, and J.L. Wallace, *Cyclooxygenase-2-derived prostaglandin D(2) is an early anti-inflammatory signal in experimental colitis.* American Journal of Physiology Gastrointestinal & Liver Physiology, 2000. 279(1): p. G238-44.
- 246. Wright, D.H., et al., *The human prostanoid DP receptor stimulates mucin secretion in LS174T cells*. British Journal of Pharmacology, 2000. **131(8)**: p. 1537-45.
- 247. Nagata, K., et al., Selective expression of a novel surface molecule by human *Th2 cells in vivo*. Journal of Immunology, 1999. **162**(3): p. 1278-86.

- 248. Murphy, P.M., *The molecular biology of leukocyte chemoattractant receptors*. Annual Review of Immunology, 1994. **12**: p. 593-633.
- 249. Abe, H., et al., Molecular cloning, chromosome mapping and characterization of the mouse CRTH2 gene, a putative member of the leukocyte chemoattractant receptor family. Gene, 1999. 227(1): p. 71-7.
- 250. Shichijo, M., et al., Chemoattractant receptor-homologous molecule expressed on Th2 cells activation in vivo increases blood leukocyte counts and its blockade abrogates 13,14-dihydro-15-keto-prostaglandin D2-induced eosinophilia in rats. Journal of Pharmacology & Experimental Therapeutics, 2003. **307**(2): p. 518-25.
- 251. Nagata, K. and H. Hirai, *The second PGD(2) receptor CRTH2: structure, properties, and functions in leukocytes.* Prostaglandins Leukotrienes & Essential Fatty Acids, 2003. **69**(2-3): p. 169-77.
- 252. Michimata, T., et al., *Accumulation of CRTH2-positive T-helper 2 and T-cytotoxic 2 cells at implantation sites of human decidua in a prostaglandin* D(2)-mediated manner. Molecular Human Reproduction, 2002. 8(2): p. 181-7.
- 253. Hirai, H., et al., *Gene structure and functional properties of mouse CRTH2, a prostaglandin D2 receptor.* Biochemical & Biophysical Research Communications, 2003. **307**(4): p. 797-802.
- 254. Sugimoto, H., et al., An orally bioavailable small molecule antagonist of CRTH2, ramatroban (BAY u3405), inhibits prostaglandin D2-induced eosinophil migration in vitro. Journal of Pharmacology & Experimental Therapeutics, 2003. **305**(1): p. 347-52.
- 255. Sasaguri, T., et al., *Prostaglandins A and J arrest the cell cycle of cultured vascular smooth muscle cells without suppression of c-myc expression.* Experimental Cell Research, 1992. **200**(2): p. 351-7.
- 256. Matsuo, T., et al., 15d-PGJ2 inhibits oxidized LDL-induced macrophage proliferation by inhibition of GM-CSF production via inactivation of NF-kappaB. Biochemical & Biophysical Research Communications, 2004. 314(3): p. 817-23.
- 257. Fitzpatrick, F.A. and M.A. Wynalda, *Albumin-catalyzed metabolism of prostaglandin D2. Identification of products formed in vitro.* Journal of Biological Chemistry, 1983. **258**(19): p. 11713-8.
- 258. Kliewer, S.A. and T.M. Willson, *The nuclear receptor PPARgamma bigger than fat.* Current Opinion in Genetics & Development, 1998. **8**(5): p. 576-81.
- 259. Satoh, T., et al., Prostaglandin J2 and its metabolites promote neurite outgrowth induced by nerve growth factor in PC12 cells. Biochemical & Biophysical Research Communications, 1999. 258(1): p. 50-3.

- 260. Vaidya, S., et al., 15-Deoxy-Delta12,1412,14-prostaglandin J2 inhibits the beta2 integrin-dependent oxidative burst: involvement of a mechanism distinct from peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma ligation. Journal of Immunology, 1999. 163(11): p. 6187-92.
- 261. Rossi, A., et al., Anti-inflammatory cyclopentenone prostaglandins are direct inhibitors of IkappaB kinase. Nature, 2000. 403(6765): p. 103-8.
- 262. Li, L., et al., 15-deoxy-Delta 12,14-prostaglandin J2 induces apoptosis of human hepatic myofibroblasts. A pathway involving oxidative stress independently of peroxisome-proliferator-activated receptors. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 2001. 276(41): p. 38152-8.
- Ghosh, S., M.J. May, and E.B. Kopp, NF- B AND REL PROTEINS: Evolutionarily Conserved Mediators of Immune Responses. Annual Review of Immunology, 1998. 16(1): p. 225-260.
- 264. Monneret, G., et al., 15-Deoxy-delta 12,14-prostaglandins D2 and J2 are potent activators of human eosinophils. Journal of Immunology, 2002. 168(7): p. 3563-9.
- 265. Desvergne, B. and W. Wahli, *Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors:* nuclear control of metabolism. Endocrine Reviews, 1999. **20**(5): p. 649-88.
- 266. Greene, M.E., et al., *PPARgamma: observations in the hematopoietic system*. Prostaglandins & Other Lipid Mediators, 2000. **62**(1): p. 45-73.
- 267. Schoonjans, K., B. Staels, and J. Auwerx, *The peroxisome proliferator* activated receptors (*PPARS*) and their effects on lipid metabolism and adipocyte differentiation. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta, 1996. **1302**(2): p. 93-109.
- 268. Fajas, L., et al., *The organization, promoter analysis, and expression of the human PPARgamma gene.* Journal of Biological Chemistry, 1997. **272**(30): p. 18779-89.
- 269. Fajas, L., J.C. Fruchart, and J. Auwerx, *PPARgamma3 mRNA: a distinct PPARgamma mRNA subtype transcribed from an independent promoter.* FEBS Letters, 1998. **438**(1-2): p. 55-60.
- 270. Tontonoz, P., et al., *mPPAR gamma 2: tissue-specific regulator of an adipocyte enhancer*. Genes & Development, 1994. **8**(10): p. 1224-34.
- 271. Kliewer, S.A., et al., Differential expression and activation of a family of murine peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 1994. 91(15): p. 7355-9.

- 272. Aperlo, C., et al., *cDNA cloning and characterization of the transcriptional activities of the hamster peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor haPPAR gamma.* Gene, 1995. **162**(2): p. 297-302.
- Houseknecht, K.L., et al., *Expression and cDNA cloning of porcine* peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma (PPARgamma). Gene, 1998. 225(1-2): p. 89-96.
- 274. Hotta, K., et al., *Relationships of PPARgamma and PPARgamma2 mRNA levels to obesity, diabetes and hyperinsulinaemia in rhesus monkeys.*International Journal of Obesity & Related Metabolic Disorders: Journal of the International Association for the Study of Obesity, 1998. 22(10): p. 1000-10.
- 275. Greene, M.E., et al., Isolation of the human peroxisome proliferator activated receptor gamma cDNA: expression in hematopoietic cells and chromosomal mapping. Gene Expression, 1995. 4(4-5): p. 281-99.
- 276. Beamer, B.A., et al., Chromosomal localization and partial genomic structure of the human peroxisome proliferator activated receptor-gamma (hPPAR gamma) gene. Biochemical & Biophysical Research Communications, 1997.
 233(3): p. 756-9.
- 277. Braissant, O., et al., *Differential expression of peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptors (PPARs): tissue distribution of PPAR-alpha, -beta, and gamma in the adult rat.* Endocrinology, 1996. **13**7(1): p. 354-66.
- 278. Tontonoz, P., et al., *Terminal differentiation of human liposarcoma cells induced by ligands for peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma and the retinoid X receptor*. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 1997. **94**(1): p. 237-41.
- 279. Mueller, E., et al., *Terminal differentiation of human breast cancer through PPAR gamma.* Molecular Cell, 1998. 1(3): p. 465-70.
- 280. Spiegelman, B.M., *PPAR-gamma: adipogenic regulator and thiazolidinedione receptor.* Diabetes, 1998. **47**(4): p. 507-14.
- 281. Faveeuw, C., et al., *Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma* activators inhibit interleukin-12 production in murine dendritic cells. FEBS Letters, 2000. **486**(3): p. 261-6.
- 282. Sugiyama, H., et al., Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors are expressed in human cultured mast cells: a possible role of these receptors in negative regulation of mast cell activation. European Journal of Immunology, 2000. 30(12): p. 3363-70.
- 283. Wang, A.C., et al., Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma regulates airway epithelial cell activation. American Journal of Respiratory Cell & Molecular Biology, 2001. 24(6): p. 688-93.

- 284. Ricote, M., et al., Expression of the peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma (PPARgamma) in human atherosclerosis and regulation in macrophages by colony stimulating factors and oxidized low density lipoprotein. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 1998. 95(13): p. 7614-9.
- 285. Huang, J.T., et al., Interleukin-4-dependent production of PPAR-gamma ligands in macrophages by 12/15-lipoxygenase. Nature, 1999. 400(6742): p. 378-82.
- 286. Kliewer, S.A., et al., Fatty acids and eicosanoids regulate gene expression through direct interactions with peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors alpha and gamma. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 1997. 94(9): p. 4318-23.
- 287. Nagy, L., et al., Oxidized LDL regulates macrophage gene expression through ligand activation of PPARgamma. Cell, 1998. 93(2): p. 229-40.
- 288. Forman, B.M., et al., 15-Deoxy-delta 12, 14-prostaglandin J2 is a ligand for the adipocyte determination factor PPAR gamma. Cell, 1995. 83(5): p. 803-12.
- 289. Lehmann, J.M., et al., *An antidiabetic thiazolidinedione is a high affinity ligand for peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma (PPAR gamma).* Journal of Biological Chemistry, 1995. **270**(22): p. 12953-6.
- 290. Henke, B.R., et al., *N-(2-Benzoylphenyl)-L-tyrosine PPARgamma agonists. 1. Discovery of a novel series of potent antihyperglycemic and antihyperlipidemic agents.* Journal of Medicinal Chemistry, 1998. **41**(25): p. 5020-36.
- 291. Lehmann, J.M., et al., *Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors alpha and gamma are activated by indomethacin and other non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs*. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 1997. **272**(6): p. 3406-10.
- 292. Castrillo, A., et al., *Inhibition of IkappaB kinase and IkappaB phosphorylation* by 15-deoxy-Delta(12,14)-prostaglandin J(2) in activated murine macrophages. Molecular & Cellular Biology, 2000. **20**(5): p. 1692-8.
- 293. Ricote, M., et al., *The peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma is a negative regulator of macrophage activation.* Nature, 1998. **391**(6662): p. 79-82.
- 294. Jiang, C., A.T. Ting, and B. Seed, *PPAR-gamma agonists inhibit production of monocyte inflammatory cytokines*. Nature, 1998. **391**(6662): p. 82-6.
- 295. Harris, S.G. and R.P. Phipps, *The nuclear receptor PPAR gamma is expressed* by mouse T lymphocytes and PPAR gamma agonists induce apoptosis. European Journal of Immunology, 2001. **31**(4): p. 1098-105.

- 296. Padilla, J., et al., *Peroxisome proliferator activator receptor-gamma agonists* and 15-deoxy-Delta(12,14)(12,14)-PGJ(2) induce apoptosis in normal and malignant B-lineage cells. Journal of Immunology, 2000. **165**(12): p. 6941-8.
- 297. Ward, C., et al., Prostaglandin D2 and its metabolites induce caspasedependent granulocyte apoptosis that is mediated via inhibition of I kappa B alpha degradation using a peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gammaindependent mechanism. Journal of Immunology, 2002. **168**(12): p. 6232-43.
- 298. Chinetti, G., et al., Activation of proliferator-activated receptors alpha and gamma induces apoptosis of human monocyte-derived macrophages. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 1998. 273(40): p. 25573-80.
- 299. Bishop-Bailey, D. and T. Hla, *Endothelial cell apoptosis induced by the peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor (PPAR) ligand 15-deoxy-Delta12, 14-prostaglandin J2.* Journal of Biological Chemistry, 1999. **274**(24): p. 17042-8.
- 300. Law, R.E., et al., *Troglitazone inhibits vascular smooth muscle cell growth and intimal hyperplasia.* Journal of Clinical Investigation, 1996. **98**(8): p. 1897-905.
- 301. Takashima, T., et al., *PPAR-gamma ligands inhibit growth of human* esophageal adenocarcinoma cells through induction of apoptosis, cell cycle arrest and reduction of ornithine decarboxylase activity. International Journal of Oncology, 2001. **19**(3): p. 465-71.
- 302. Fuhrer, D., A nuclear receptor in thyroid malignancy: is PAX8/PPARgamma the Holy Grail of follicular thyroid cancer? European Journal of Endocrinology, 2001. 144(5): p. 453-6.
- 303. DuBois, R.N., et al., *The nuclear eicosanoid receptor, PPARgamma, is aberrantly expressed in colonic cancers.* Carcinogenesis, 1998. **19**(1): p. 49-53.
- 304. Thieringer, R., et al., Activation of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma does not inhibit IL-6 or TNF-alpha responses of macrophages to lipopolysaccharide in vitro or in vivo. Journal of Immunology, 2000. 164(2): p. 1046-54.
- 305. Meade, E.A., et al., Peroxisome proliferators enhance cyclooxygenase-2 expression in epithelial cells. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 1999. 274(12): p. 8328-34.
- 306. Zhang, X., et al., *Differential regulation of chemokine gene expression by 15deoxy-delta 12,14 prostaglandin J2*. Journal of Immunology, 2001. **166**(12): p. 7104-11.

- 307. Wilmer, W.A., et al., A cyclopentenone prostaglandin activates mesangial MAP kinase independently of PPARgamma. Biochemical & Biophysical Research Communications, 2001. 281(1): p. 57-62.
- 308. Jozkowicz, A., et al., *Prostaglandin-J2 induces synthesis of interleukin-8 by* endothelial cells in a PPAR-gamma-independent manner. Prostaglandins & Other Lipid Mediators, 2001. **66**(3): p. 165-77.
- 309. Frew, A.J. and A.B. Kay, *The relationship between infiltrating CD4+ lymphocytes, activated eosinophils, and the magnitude of the allergen-induced late phase cutaneous reaction in man.* Journal of Immunology, 1988. **141**(12): p. 4158-64.
- 310. Monneret, G., et al., 15*R-methyl-prostaglandin D2 is a potent and selective CRTH2/DP2 receptor agonist in human eosinophils*. Journal of Pharmacology & Experimental Therapeutics, 2003. **304**(1): p. 349-55.
- Venge, P. and L. Hakansson, *Current understanding of the role of the eosinophil granulocyte in asthma*. Clinical & Experimental Allergy, 1991. 21
 Suppl 3: p. 31-7.
- 312. Leckie, M.J., et al., *Effects of an interleukin-5 blocking monoclonal antibody* on eosinophils, airway hyper-responsiveness, and the late asthmatic response.[see comment]. Lancet, 2000. **356**(9248): p. 2144-8.
- 313. Flood-Page, P.T., et al., Eosinophil's role remains uncertain as antiinterleukin-5 only partially depletes numbers in asthmatic airway.[see comment]. American Journal of Respiratory & Critical Care Medicine, 2003. 167(2): p. 199-204.
- 314. Lee, J.J., et al., *Defining a link with asthma in mice congenitally deficient in eosinophils.[see comment]*. Science, 2004. **305**(5691): p. 1773-6.
- 315. Nelson, H.S., *Beta-adrenergic bronchodilators*. New England Journal of Medicine, 1995. **333**(8): p. 499-506.
- 316. Disse, B., Antimuscarinic treatment for lung diseases from research to clinical practice. Life Sciences, 2001. 68(22-23): p. 2557-64.
- 317. Cockcroft, D.W. and K.Y. Murdock, Comparative effects of inhaled salbutamol, sodium cromoglycate, and beclomethasone dipropionate on allergen-induced early asthmatic responses, late asthmatic responses, and increased bronchial responsiveness to histamine. Journal of Allergy & Clinical Immunology, 1987. 79(5): p. 734-40.
- 318. Carlsen, K.H., *Therapeutic strategies for allergic airways diseases*. Paediatric Respiratory Reviews, 2004. **5**(1): p. 45-51.

- Busse, W.W., Long-and short-acting beta 2-adrenergic agonists. Effects on airway function in patients with asthma. Archives of Internal Medicine, 1996. 156(14): p. 1514-20.
- 320. Chakir, J., et al., Airway remodeling-associated mediators in moderate to severe asthma: effect of steroids on TGF-beta, IL-11, IL-17, and type I and type III collagen expression. Journal of Allergy & Clinical Immunology, 2003. 111(6): p. 1293-8.
- 321. Lange, P., et al., A 15-year follow-up study of ventilatory function in adults with asthma. New England Journal of Medicine, 1998. **339**(17): p. 1194-200.
- 322. Barnes, P.J., *New concepts in the pathogenesis of bronchial hyperresponsiveness and asthma.* Journal of Allergy & Clinical Immunology, 1989. **83**(6): p. 1013-26.
- 323. Gleich, G.J., *The eosinophil and bronchial asthma: current understanding*. Journal of Allergy & Clinical Immunology, 1990. **85**(2): p. 422-36.
- 324. Leff, A.R., *Future directions in asthma therapy. Is a cure possible?* Chest, 1997. **111**(2 Suppl): p. 61S-68S.
- 325. Salvi, S.S., et al., *The anti-inflammatory effects of leukotriene-modifying drugs and their use in asthma.[see comment].* Chest, 2001. **119**(5): p. 1533-46.
- 326. Hosoi, T., et al., *Identification of a novel human eicosanoid receptor coupled to G(i/o)*. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 2002. **277**(35): p. 31459-65.
- 327. Brink, C., et al., International Union of Pharmacology XLIV. Nomenclature for the Oxoeicosanoid Receptor. Pharmacol Rev, 2004. 56(1): p. 149-157.
- 328. Town, M.H., J. Casals-Stenzel, and E. Schillinger, *Pharmacological and* cardiovascular properties of a hydantoin derivative, BW 245 C, with high affinity and selectivity for PGD2 receptors. Prostaglandins, 1983. **25**(1): p. 13-28.
- 329. Bell-Parikh, L.C., et al., *Biosynthesis of 15-deoxy-delta12,14-PGJ2 and the ligation of PPARgamma.[see comment]*. Journal of Clinical Investigation, 2003. **112**(6): p. 945-55.
- Straus, D.S. and C.K. Glass, Cyclopentenone prostaglandins: new insights on biological activities and cellular targets. Medicinal Research Reviews, 2001. 21(3): p. 185-210.
- 331. Cuzzocrea, S., et al., The cyclopentenone prostaglandin 15-deoxydelta(12,14)- PGJ2 attenuates the development of colon injury caused by dinitrobenzene sulphonic acid in the rat. British Journal of Pharmacology, 2003. 138(4): p. 678-88.

- 332. Flower, R.J., E.A. Harvey, and W.P. Kingston, *Inflammatory effects of prostaglandin D2 in rat and human skin*. British Journal of Pharmacology, 1976. **56**(2): p. 229-33.
- 333. Hammad, H., et al., *Prostaglandin D2 inhibits airway dendritic cell migration and function in steady state conditions by selective activation of the D prostanoid receptor 1.* Journal of Immunology, 2003. **171**(8): p. 3936-40.
- 334. Heinemann, A., et al., *Delta 12-prostaglandin J2, a plasma metabolite of prostaglandin D2, causes eosinophil mobilization from the bone marrow and primes eosinophils for chemotaxis.* Journal of Immunology, 2003. **170**(9): p. 4752-8.
- 335. Coleman, R.A. and R.L. Sheldrick, *Prostanoid-induced contraction of human* bronchial smooth muscle is mediated by TP-receptors. British Journal of Pharmacology, 1989. **96**(3): p. 688-92.
- Honda, K., et al., Prostaglandin D2 reinforces Th2 type inflammatory responses of airways to low-dose antigen through bronchial expression of macrophage-derived chemokine. Journal of Experimental Medicine, 2003. 198(4): p. 533-43.